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Report of Independent Auditors 

The Board of Directors and Management 
CHRISTUS Health 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CHRISTUS Health, which comprise the 
consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements 
of operations and changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related 
notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of CHRISTUS Health at June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the changes in its net 
assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government. Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States 
(Governrnent Auditing Standards). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are required to be independent of CHRISTUS Health and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about CHRISTUS 
Health's ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial 
statements are available to be issued. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and 
Government. Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial 
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government. Auditing Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of CHRISTUS Health's internal control. Accordingly, no 
such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about CHRISTUS Health's ability to continue as a 
going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Supplementary Information 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a 
whole. We have not performed any procedures with respect to the audited consolidated financial 
statements subsequent to October 3, 2024. The accompanying schedule of compensation 
information as required by Louisiana Revised Statute 24:513A9A)(a)(3) and the schedule of 
expenditures of federal and state awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required 
by the Uniform Guidance and Texas Grant Management Standards and is not a required part of 
the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived 
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all 
material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Governrnent Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
October 3, 2024 on our consideration of CHRISTUS Health's internal control over financial 
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts 
and grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope 
of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of CHRISTUS Health's internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Governrnent Auditing Standards in considering CHRISTUS Health's internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 

October 3, 2024, except for our report on the 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
and the Schedule of Compensation 
Information, for which the date is 
February 12, 2025 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

Assets 
Current assets: 

June 30 
2024 2(123 

an Thousands) 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,044,665 $ 1,151,756 
Short-term investments and equitv in manaeed funds 1,061,446 986,190 
Assets whose use is limited or restricted. required for 

current liabilities 57,188 

 

56,034 
Patient accounts receivable 883,351 

 

776,110 
Notes and other receivables 243,140 

 

128.305 
Inventories 159,035 

 

150.096 
Other current assets 276,689 

 

278,441 
Total current assets 3.725,514 

 

3.526,932 

Assets whose use is limited or restricted, less current portion 845,989 

 

977,461 
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 4,182.722 

 

3,609,836 

Other assets: 

   

Investments in unconsolidated organizations 232,941 

 

261,380 
Goodwill and intangible assets, net 211,809 

 

202,256 
Finance lease right-of-use assets 124,089 

 

142,982 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 198,671 

 

216.519 
Beneticial interest in supporting organizations 154,591 

 

136,810 
Other assets 446,773 

 

331,573 
Total other assets 1.368,874 

 

1.291,520 
Total assets $ 10,123,099 1; 9.405,749 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Consolidated Balance Sheets (continued) 

Liabilities and net assets 
Current liabilities: 

June 30 
2024 2(123 

an Thousands) 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 1,493,931 $ 1,182,277 
Accrued employee compensation and henetits 360,924 315,973 
Current portion of long-term debt 92,799 275,262 
Current portion of finance lease liabilities 13,889 13,573 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 39,104 52,015 
Long-term obligations subject to remarketing agreements 

 

63.805 
Total current liabilities 2,000,647 1.902,905 

Long-term debt, less current portion 2.369,994 1.779,147 
Derivative financial instniments 34,730 47,153 
Long-terrn tinance lease liabilities 137,748 160,503 
Long-term operating lease liabilities 186,799 186,195 
Other long-term obligations — includine self-funded liabilities, 

less current portion 379,538 312,436 
Total liabilities 5.109,456 4.388,339 

Net assets: 

  

Net assets without donor restrictions: 

  

Attributahle to CHRISTUS Health 4.603,511 4.271,408 
Attributable to noncontrolling interest 137,030 497,006 

Total net assets without donor restrictions 4,740,541 4,768,414 

Net assets with donor restrictions 273,102 248,996 
Total net assets 5,013,643 5.017,410 
Total liabilities and net assets S 10,123,099 $ 9,405.749 

See accompanying notes. 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets 

Revenues• 

Year Ended June 30 
2024 2023 

an Thousands) 

Net patient service revenue $ 7,574,353 S 6,801,035 
Premium revenue 496,275 419,673 
Other revenue 781,061 593,505 

Total revenues 8,851,689 7.814,213 

Expenses: 

  

Employee compensation and henefits 3,928,982 3,538,282 
Services and other 2,688,961 2,217,422 
Supplies 1,523,434 1.349,027 
Depreciation and amortization 335,411 313,258 
Interest 105,884 71,723 

Total expenses 8, 582,672 7.489,712 

Operating income 269,017 324,501 

Nonoperating investment gains. net 137,260 107,681 
Other nonoperating (losses) gains. net (46,147) 23.107 
Revenues in excess of expenses 360,130 455.289 

Less revenues in excess of expenses attributable to 
noncontrolling interests 23,854 46,109 

Revenues in excess of expenses attributable to 
CHRISTUS Health 336,276 409, l 80 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets (continued) 

Net assets without donor restrictions. 
Revenues in excess of expenses attributable to 

Year Ended June 30 
2024 2023 

an Thousands) 

CHRISTUS Health $ 336,276 $ 409,180 
Unrealized eain other-than-tradine inve.,tments 11,315 11.300 
Change in pension assets 51,474 3,898 
Foreign currency translation adjustment (39,508) 63,651 
Change in net assets from purchase of noncontrolling 

interest (17.486) 

 

Other activities. net , including net assets released from 
restrictions for capital (9,968) (8,844) 

Changes attributable to CHRISTUS Health 332,103 479,185 

Revenues in excess of expenses attributable to 
noncontrolling interests 23,854 46.109 

Distributions (13,504) (15,489) 
Acquisitions and sales of noncontrolling interests, net (365,386) 1,590 
Foreign currency translation adjustment (4,953) 11,259 
C)ther activities, net 13 6,310 

Changes attributable to noncontrolling interests (359,976) 49,779 

Net assets with donor restrictions: 

  

Net change in heneticial interest in supporting organizations 15,496 17,849 
Contributions 15,013 16,576 
Unrealized gain on investments 296 2,988 
Other activities, net, including net assets released front 

restrictions (6,699) (5.650) 
Changes in net assets with donor restrictions 24,106 31,763 

Change in net assets (3,767) 560,727 
Net assets - heginning of fiscal year 5,017,410 4.456,683 
Net assets - end of fiscal year $ 5,013,643 $ 5.017,410 

See accompanying notes. 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Operating activities 

Year Ended June 30 
2024 2023 

du Thousands.) 

Change in net assets $ (3,767) $ 560,717 
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash 

provided by operating activities: 

  

Change in beneficial interests (15,496) (17,849) 
Change in pension assets recognized in net assets (51,474) (3,898) 
Contributions of net assets with donor restrictions (15,013) (16,576) 
Inherent contribution from business combination (34,078) 

 

Distributions to, acquisitions, and sale of noncontrolling interest. net 368,818 13,899 
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated organizations, net of 

distributions received (27,100) (17,023) 
Unrealized investment (gain) loss (88,782) 12,115 
Depreciation and amortization 335,411 313,258 
Amortization of premiums, discounts, and deterred financing costs, 

net (3,293) (2,894) 
Change in derivative fair value (12,423) (25,093) 
Loss (gain) on disposal and nonmonetary exchange of property, 

equipment. and other assets 1,639 (50,672) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of cash impact 74,560 (84,550) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions: 

  

Increase in net patient accounts receivable (75, 831) (30.767) 
(Increase) decrease in investments and assets whose use is limited 

or restricted (65,029) 195,719 
(Increase) decrease in notes and other receivables (96,458) 34,336 
Decrease (increase) in other cunent assets and inventories 23,397 (67,(i17) 
Increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses, deterred revenue, 

and accrued employee compensation and benefits 246,076 60,129 
Increase in other long-term liabilities 70,649 101,950 

Net cash provided by operating acti‘ ities 631,806 987,545 

Investing activities 

  

Purchases of property and equipment (743,610) (773,325) 
Proceeds from sale or disposal of property and equipment 4,803 5.610 
Purchases of and contributions to imestments in unconsolidated 

organizations (13,263) (10,316) 
Decrease (increase) in other-than-trading investments and assets 

linnted as to use 142,703 (182,083) 
Increase in other assets (39,929) (91.306) 
Acquisitions of healthcare entities, net of cash acquired (230,150) O5.345) 
Net cash used in investing activities (N79,446) (1,090.765) 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued) 

Financing activities 

Year Ended June 30 
2024 2023 

du Thousands.) 

Contributions of net assets with donor restrictions $ 15,013 $ 16,576 
Purchases and sales of noneontrolling interests, net (58,368) 1.590 
Proceeds from issuance of new debt 420,567 646,356 
Payments on long-term debt (387,890) (67,652) 
Payments on financing leases (14,194) (14,311) 
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders (13,504) (15,489) 
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (38,376) 567,070 

Net (decrease) inerease in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (286,016) 457,850 
Cash. cash equivalents. and restricted cash — be2inninit of fiscal year 1.424,835 966,985 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash — end of fiscal year $ 1,138,819 $ 1,424,835 

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash 

  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of fiscal year $ 1,151,756 $ 838,925 
Restricted cash included in assets whose use is limited or restricted 

at beginning of tiscal year 273,079 128.060 
Cash. cash equivalents. and restricted cash at beginning of fiscal year S 1.424,835 S 966,985 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of fiscal year $ 1,044,665 S 1,151,756 
Restricted cash included in assets whose use is limited or restricted 

at end of fiscal year 94,154 273.079 
Cash. cash equivalents. and restricted cash at end of tiseal year $ 1,138,819 'S 1,414,835 

Noncash financing transactions 
Notes issued in exchange for noncontrolling interests in consolidated 

organizations $ 377,073 $ 

Supplemental disclosure of cash floss information 

  

Cash paid during the year for interest (net of amotmt capitalized) $ 106,694 $ 70.995 

See accompanying notes. 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 

1. Mi%sion, Vision, and Organization of CHRISTI'S Health 

CHRISTUS Health was incorporated as a Texas nonprofit corporation on December 15. 1998. 
CHRISTUS is sponsored by the Congegation of the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word of 
Houston, Texas, the Congregation of the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word of San Antonio. 
Texas: and the Congregation of the Sisters of the Holy Family of Nazareth. CHRISTUS Health. 
together with each aftiliated entity for which CHRISTUS Health holds. directly or indirectly. at 
least a majority membership, ownership, or other controlling interest, is collectively referred to in 
these consolidated financial statements as CHRISTUS or the System. 

The mission of CHRISTUS is to extend the healing ministry of Jesus Christ. The Gospel values 
underlying the mission statement challenge CHRISTUS to make choices that respond to the 
economically disadvantaged and the underserved with healthcare needs. The growth and 
development of CHRISTUS are determined by the healthcare needs of the communities that 
CHRISTUS serves. its available resources, and the interrelationship of those serving and those 
being served. Responsible stewardship mandates that CHRISTUS searches out new, effective 
means to deliver quality healthcare and to promote wholeness in the human person. 

The vision of CHRISTUS is to be a leader, a partner, and an advocate in the creation of innovative 
health and wellness solutions that improve the lives of individuals and communities so that all may 
experience God's healing presence and love. 

The consolidated financial statements reflect the results of operations of CHRISTUS Health and 
its affiliated market-based healthcare provider organizations and other related entities and 
functions (all of which are, or further the work of. CHRISTUS ministries). These include. but are 
not limited to, hospitals, physician eroups. ambulatory surgery centers, diagnostic imaging 
companies, urgent care centers, health plans, integrated commuthty health networks, foundations, 
professional office buildings, management services organizations, a collection agency, self-
insurance trusts, and an offshore captive insurance company. 

CHRISTUS entities control or own. directly or indirectly, or manage various nonprofit and 
for-protit corporations and other organizations that currently operate domestically in the states of 
Texas, Louisiana, and New Mexico, and internationally in Grand Cayman. Mexico, Chile, and 
Colombia. 

CHRISTUS Health and certain affiliated nonprotit corporations are generally exempt from federal 
income taxes under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, as organizations descrihed in 
Section 501(c)(3). 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2. C:ommunit3 Health 

In accordance with its mission and philosophy. the System commits significant resources to 
improving the health of the communities it serves. In support of its mission, the System provides 
programs and services for entire communities. with special consideration for those who are poor 
and underserved. 

CHRISTUS and various hospital participants have elected to provide healthcare services to the 
indigent population both directly to patients as charity services and hy providing financial support 
to one another for certain community benefit efforts provided throughout the year with the goal 
beine to reach a previously discussed equitable distribution of the cost of care to the low-income 
and needy populations in the communities they service. 

Programs and Services for the Poor and Undersm ed 

These programs and services represent the financial commitment to serve those who have 
inadequate resources and/or are uninsured or undermsured. Services are offered with the 
conviction that healthcare is a basic human right and all deserve access. The categories included 
as programs and services for the poor and the underserved are as follows: 

Charily Cure — In accordance with the Catholic Health Association (CHA) guidelines, charity care 
represents the unpaid costs of free or discounted health services provided to persons who cannot 
afford to pay and who meet the organization's criteria for financial assistance. Traditional charity 
care is defined by the state of Texas as the =reimbursed costs of providing. funding. or otherwise 
financially supporting the healthcare services provided to a person classified by the hospital as 
financially or medically indigent. CHRISTUS generally considers anyone with income at or below 
200% of the federal poverty level as qualifying fbr charity care. Charity care services provided to 
these patients are not reported as revenue on the consolidated statements of operations and changes 
in net assets as there is no expectation of payment. The amount of traditional charity care provided, 
determined on the basis of cost. estimated using the applicable cost to charge ratios of the hospital 
participants was $372.765.000 and $376,336,000 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 
2023, respectively. 

Unpaid Costs nf,lledicuid and Other Public Programs fiv the Indigent — This category represents 
the cost of providing services to beneficiaries of public programs, including state Medicaid and 
indigent care progams. in excess of anv payments received from all sources. 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2. ommunit3 Ilealtti (continued) 

Connnunity Services for the Poor und I:nderverved — This category represents the unpaid cost of 
services provided for which a patient is not billed or for which a fee has been assessed that recovers 
only a portion of the cost of the rendered service. This category includes services to those in need 
through community health proerams. The programs cover a broad spectrum of services. including 
community health centers, immunizations for children and seniors, Meals on Wheels, 
transportation services. home repair projects. and a variety of other social services. These programs 
may also seek justice for the vulnerable and work to bring about changes in political and economic 
systems. 

Community Services Provided Or the Broader Community — This category represents the unpaid 
cost of services provided tbr the benefit of the entire community. The majority of these 
expenditures are for graduate medical education progams, either through CHRISTUS-sponsored 
or affiliated prograrns. Other benefits for the broader community include health promotion and 
wellness programs, health screenings. newsletters. and radio or television programs intended for 
health education. These programs are not intended to be financially self-supporting. 

Education and Research — This category represents the direct costs associated with medical 
education and other health professional educational programs in excess of governmental payments. 

Other Community Services — This category represents leadership activities. community planning, 
and advocacy. 

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all entities of the System 
(see Note 1). All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated in 
consolidation. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with United 
States generally accepted accounting principles ( U.S. GAAP ) requires management of the System 
to make assumptions, estimates. and judgments that affect the amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenues, and expenses reported in the consolidated financial statements. including the notes 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

3. Summary of Significant Acco unting Palicies (continued) 

thereto, and related disclosures of commitments and contingencies, if any, at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements. Management relies on historical experience and on other 
assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances in making its judgments and 
estimates. Actual results could ditTer materially from these estimates. 

Cash Equivalents and Investments 

Cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less. 

The System's investment portfolio is classified as trading. with unrealized gains and losses 
included in revenues in excess of expenses and cash flows included in operating activities. Certain 
investments held hy the System's foundations are classified as other than trading, with unrealized 
gains and losses included in changes in net assets and cash flows included in investing activities. 
Investments in equity securities and funds with readily deteminable fair values and all investments 
in debt securities are rneasured at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets. Investments also 
include equity investments in managed funds structured as limited liability corporations or 
partnerships. Equity investments in managed funds without readily determinable fair values are 
accounted for using net asset value (NAV) as a practical expedient if held within the System's 
foundations or captive insurer, or under the equity rnethod of accounting if held by another System 
entity. Investment income or loss ( including equity investment earnings (losses) on equity 
investments in rnanaged funds, realized and unrealized gains and losses, computed on the average-
cost basis of the security at the time of sale: and interest and dividends) is included in revenues in 
excess of expenses. unless the income or loss is restricted hy donor or law. 

Investment incorne earned On assets held by trustees under bond indenture agreements. assets held 
by foundations, assets deposited in trust funds for self-insurance purposes, holdings in healthcare-
related investment funds, and funds held by insurance suhsidiaries in accordance with industry 
practices are included in other revenue on the consolidated statements of operations and changes 
in net assets. 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Derhative Financial Instruments 

The System utilizes interest rate swaps to mitigate interest rate exposures. Changes in the fair value 
of the System's interest rate swaps and the expense or income representine the net of the payments 
made and received under the swap agreements are recorded as a component of nonoperating 
investment gains (losses) on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes 
in net assets. 

Inventories 

The System values inventories, which consist principally of medical supplies and pharmaceuticals, 
at the lower of cost (tirst-in. first-out or weighted average cost valuation method) or net realizable 
value. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment acquisitions are recorded at historical cost or, if donated_ impaired, or 
acquired in a business transaction. at fair value at the time of donation. impairinent, or acquisition. 
Expenditures that materially increase values, change capacities. or extend useful lives are 
capitalized. Routine maintenance. repairs, and minor equipment replacement costs are charged 
against operations. 

Depreciation is calculated and recorded over the estimated useful life of each class of depreciable 
assets using the straight-line method. The American Hospital Assockawn — Estimated Usefill Lives 

Dwreeiable Hospital Assets is used as a general guide in establishing depreciable lives. 
Amortization of financing lease right-of-use assets and impairment losses related to long-lived 
assets are included in depreciation expense. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. the System 
performed a detailed analysis of the depreciable lives assigned to property and equipment assets, 
comparing the System's estimated depreciable lives with industry data and historical usage 
patterns. As a result. the System adjusted the depreciable lives associated with a number of assets. 
The net impact of this change in estimate was a reduction in depreciation expense of approximately 
$44,000.000. 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Internal-Use Software 

Costs to develop internal-use software and internal-use software obtained through a hosting 
arrangement are capitalized during the application development phase in accordance with 
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 350, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other. At June 30. 
2024 and 2023. the System had capitalized costs related to internal-use software obtained through 
a hosting arrangement, net of amortization, of $20,792,000 and $24,360,000, respectively, 
included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The capitalized costs are amortized 
over a ten-year life. Durine both tiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the System recognized 
amortization expense of $3,567,000, which is included in depreciation and amortization expense 
on the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets. 

Asset Impairment 

The System periodically evaluates the carrying value of its operating lcing-lived assets for 
impairment when indicators of impairment are identified. These evaluations are primarily based 
on the estimated recoverability of the assets' carrying value. Impairment write-downs are 
recognized as a reduction in operating income for the operating long-lived assets at the time the 
impairment is identified. There were no impairments of operatine long-lived assets recognized in 
fiscal years 2024 or 2023. 

Investments in Unconsolidated Organizations 

The System has investments in certain organizations for which it does not have a majority 
ownership interest or control and. therefore. these organizations are not consolidated. Generally, 
these investments are recorded using the equity method of accounting for those organizations in 
which the System owns greater than 20% and has signiticant influence over the organization. The 
System measures its equity investments in organizations in which the System owns 20% or less at 
cost less impairment, if any, because these investments do not have a readily determinable fair 
value. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

3. Su mina of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The System has investments in unconsolidated organizations of $232,941,000 and $261,380.000 
at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Differences between the carrying amounts of the System's 
investments and the underlying equity in the net assets of the investees total $52.035,000 and 
$62,425,000 at June 30. 2024 and 2023, respectively. These differences are attributed to the excess 
fair value over hook value of intangible assets at the investee level, and are being reduced as an 
adjustment to equity earnings over the life of the related assets. The intangible is reviewed for 
impairment on an annual basis. 

Equity income of $43.801.000 and $17,023,000 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. is reflected in other revenue on the consolidated statements of operations and changes 
in net assets. 

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Subsidiaries 

Noncontrolling interests are based on the contractual terms of joint ventures and the ownership 
percentage of the noncontrolling interests in certain of the System's consolidated subsidiaries. 
Noncontrolling interests are reflected as a component of net assets without donor restrictions on 
the consolidated balance sheets, net of distributions. 

Guodwill and Intangible Assets 

Goodwill and intangible assets recorded in connection with acquisitions completed by the System 
are accounted for under ASC 350. The System records goodwill as the excess of the purchase price 
over the fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 
Indetinite-lived intangible assets consist entirely of acquired trade name assets. Finite-lived 
intangible assets consist primarily of noncompete assets generated from husiness combinations 
and minimum revenue guarantees offered to various non-employed physicians throughout the 
System. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The changes in the carryinu amounts of goodwill and intan2ible assets as of June 30 are as follows 
(in thousands ): 

 

GoodNI ill 
Indefinite- 
Lived Asset 

Finite-Lived 
Assets 

Balance at June 30. 2022 $ 106.192 $ 46.000 $ 10.895 
Assets acquired 40,272 

 

6,678 
Amortization 

  

(7,259) 
Currency translation and other 

adjustments 538 — (1,(160) 
Balance at June 30. 2023 147,002 46,000 9,254 

Assets acquired — 8,000 7,092 
Amortization — — (4,695) 
Currency translation and other 

adjustments (758) — (86) 
Balance at June 30, 2024 $ 146,244 $ 54,00(1 $ 11,565 

Goodwill assets acquired during the year ended June 30. 2023 were generated hy multiple business 
combinations that were not individually material to the System. Goodwill is evaluated at least 
annually fbr impairment at the reporting unit level on April 1 of each year. Impairment is the 
condition that exists when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. 
Additional impairinent assessments may be performed on an interim basis if the System encounters 
events or changes in circumstances which would indicate it is more likely than not that the carrying 
value has heen impaired. The System has determined that its reporting units are the various 
geographically located affiliates. 

For goodwill impairment tests, the System may elect to perform a qualitative assessment of each 
reporting unit to determine whether facts and circumstances support a determination that the 
reporting unit's fair value is greater than its carrying value. A quantitative assessment is peribrmed 
thr reporting units if the qualitative analysis is not conclusive or if impairment is indicated. 
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3. Surnmar of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

If a quantitative assessment is required. the System uses a fair-value-based process using a 
discounted cash flow income method, a guideline public company method, and a mergers and 
acquisitions method to estimate the fair value of the reporting unit. This analysis requires 
judetnents and estimates about the weighted average cost of capital, risk factors, and tbrecasted 
operating tnargins. If the carrying atnount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, a goodwill 
impairment is recognized equal to the lesser of the difference between carrying value and fair value 
or the amount of the goodwill under evaluation. Judgments and assumptions are inherent in the 
System's estimates used to determine the fair value of its reporting units and are consistent with 
what the System believes would be utilized hy a primary market participant. The use of alternative 
judgtnents and assumptions could result in the recognition of different impairment charges in the 
System's consolidated financial statements. 

As a result of the qualitative assessment for fiscal years 2024 and 2023, no impairment loss was 
recoenized related to goodwill. 

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are also evaluated annually for impanment on April 1 of each 
year, by comparing the fair value of the asset with its carrying amount. The System also considers 
facts and circumstances regarding the asset on an annual basis to determine whether an indefinite 
life continues to he appropriate. For indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment tests, the Svstem 
also tnay elect to perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether facts and circumstances 
support a conclusion that it is more likely than not that the asset is not unpaired. If the qualitative 
analysis is not conclusive, or if the System elects to proceed directly with quantitative testing, the 
fair values of the intangible assets are determined and compared with their carrying amounts. As 
a result of the qualitative assessments for both fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, no 
impairtnent losses on indefinite-lived intangible assets were recorded. 

Finite-lived intangible assets are evaluated for impairment whenever indicators of impairment are 
identified. An impairment loss is recognized if the intangible asset is not recoverable and its 
carrying amount exceeds its fair value. No impairment losses on finite-lived intaneible assets were 
recogthzed in fiscal years 2024 or 2023. 
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3. Sununary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Leases 

The System determines whether an arrangement is a lease at inception of the contract and performs 
an analysis to determine whether the lease is an operating lease or a financing lease. Right-of-use 
assets represent the System's right to use the underlying assets for the Iease term and lease 
liabilities represent the System's obligation to make lease payments arising from the leases. Right-
of-use assets and Iease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present 
value of lease payments over the lease term. The System uses its estimated incremental horrowing 
rate in determining the present value of lease payments to the extent that the rate inherent in the 
lease is unknown. The incremental borrowing rate is calculated on a quarterly basis by a third party 
that estimates the rate of interest the System would have to pay over a term similar to the lease 
term. The System does not record leases with an initial term of 12 months or less on its 
consolidated balance sheets. 

Deferred Financing Costs 

Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization. included as a reduction of long-tenn 
debt at June 30, 2024 and 2023, are $9,511,000 and $9,485,000, respectively, which are being 
amortized using the effective interest method over the terms of the indebtedness to which they 
relate. Amortization expense recognized for tiscal years 2024 and 2023 was $771.000 and 
$772,000. respectively. 

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions 

Net assets with donor restrictions reflect the portion of the System's net assets whose use is suhject 
to donor-imposed restrictions. Donor-imposed restrictions tnay be tetnporary in nature, such as 
those that will be met by the passage of time or other events specified by the donor. These include 
the System's beneficial interest in the net assets of affiliated and financially interrelated 
organizations. whose use has been limited by grant agreements and donors to a specific time period 
or purpose. Other donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual m nature, where the assets have heen 
restricted by donors to be maintained by the System in perpetuity. Net assets with donor restrictions 
are primarily restricted for healthcare services. capital projects. community outreach, and other. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Unconditional promises to give cash and other assets are reported at fair value at the date the 
promise is received. Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give are reported 
at fair value at the date the git't is received or the condition has been met. The gifts are reported as 
net assets with donor restrictions if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of 
the donated assets. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends 
or purpose restriction is accomplished. net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net 
assets without donor restrictions and reported on the consolidated staternents of operations and 
changes in net assets as net assets released from restrictions. Donor-restricted contributions whose 
restrictions are met within the same year as received are reported as other revenue in the 
accompanyine consolidated financial statements. 

Net Patient Service Revenue and Patient Accounts Receh able 

Net patient service revenue is reported at the amount to which CHRISTUS expects to be entitled 
in exchange for providing patient care. The System has agreements with third-party payors that 
provide for payments to the System at amounts different from established rates. Estimated 
retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-party payors are included in 
patient service revenue and estimated third-party payor settlements. Retroactive adjustments are 
accrued on an estimated hasis in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future 
periods as final settlements are determined. A complete description of the System's revenue 
recognition policy is included in Note 4 below. 

The System grants credit without collateral to its patients. most of whom are local residents of the 
geographies of the various System healthcare centers and are insured under third-party payor 
agreements. The mix of accounts receivable. net of applicable allowances, from patients and third-
party payors at June 30 was as follows: 

 

2024 2023 

Medicare 34% 33% 
Medicaid 9 12 
Managed care organizations 34 36 
Self-pay 4 4 
International payors 13 I () 
Others 6 5 

100% 100(!ii 
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3. Sununary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Charity Care 

The System provides care to many patients who cannot afford to pay and who meet the System's 
criteria for financial assistance. Charitv care services provided to these patients are not reported as 
patient service revenue as there is no expectation of payment. CHRISTUS estimates the cost of 
providing charity care using the applicable cost to charge ratios of the hospital participants. 

Premium Revenue and Associated Costs 

Premium revenue largely represents revenues derived under capitated arrangements with third 
parties. In return for these premiums, CHRISTUS is responsible for providing essentially all 
healthcare services to enrolled participants. The System contracts with the Department of Defense 
(DOD) to treat TRICARE patients through a US Family Health Plan wherehy CHRISTUS earns a 
negotiated fee per member per month. In return for these premiums. CHRISTUS is responsible for 
administering covered benefits. Premium revenue recognized under the contract with the DOD 
was $143.961,000 and $141,739.000 of total premium revenue during the years ended June 30, 
2024 and 2023. respectively. Revenue under this contract is recognized on a monthly basis. subject 
to provisions for retrospective adjusunents hased primarily on the results of membership audits. 

Premium revenues are also generated by the System's health maintenance organization, Medicare 
Advantage plans, and for individual coverage on federal and state-based health exchanges. 
Premium revenue for individual coverage on the federal and state-based Exchanges and Medicare 
Advantage programs was $352,314,000 and $277,934,000 of total premium revenue for the fiscal 
years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. respectively. A significant portion of these premiums is 
subsidized through the federal government's advance premium tax credit provisions. Revenues 
from the exchanges are also subject to risk-sharing provisions as outlined in federal regulations. 
The purpose of the risk-sharing provisions is to transfer funds from health plans with lower risk to 
health plans with higher risk within the same state. Risk adjustment assessments and distributions 
are computed based on a health plan's risk score vs. the overall market risk score. Included in net 
premium revenues for individual coverage on federal and state-based health exchanges are 
adjustments decreasing the System's premium revenues for estimated risk-sharing assessments of 
$61,852,000 and $20,607,000 as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Ultimate settlement 
could differ significantly from these estimates. 

2409-15558-CS 21 



CHRISTUS Health 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

3. Summary of Significant Accuunting Policies (continued) 

Costs tor providing services through these contracts were S419,306.000 and 5347,477.000 for the 
fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and are included as operating expenses 
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. At June 30. 2024 and 2023. the System 
has accrued expenses for incurred but not reported claims based upon actuarial evaluations of 
claims experience. These estimates are continually reviewed and adjusted as necessary as 
experience develops or as new information becomes known: such adjustments are included in 
current operations. The System maintains stop-loss insurance coverage to limit exposure for 
certain catastrophic claims. 

Other Revenue 

Other revenue is derived from services other than providing healthcare services or coverage to 
patients, residents, or enrollees. This revenue typically includes investment income from all funds 
held by foundations. bond trustees, malpractice funds. or other miscellaneous investment 
activities: fees for providing tnanagement services under the tertns of management agreements 
with certain of the System's joint ventures and related-party joint venture partners; rental of 
healthcare facility space. inherent contributions from business combinations when applicable; 
sales of medical and pharmaceutical supplies to employees, physicians, and others; proceeds from 
sales of cafeteria meals and guest trays to employees, medical statT, and visitors: and proceeds 
from sales at gift shops and other retail activities or other service facilities operated by the System. 

Nlanagement and license fee contracts include variable consideration as the fees are not fixed hut 
are based on a percentage of revenue. CHRISTUS recognizes revenue when the uncertainty is 
resolved. which is generally on a monthly basis as actual revenues are lutown or can be reasonably 
estimated. CHRISTUS also evaluates the collectability of each of its tnanagetnent and license fee 
contracts and applies a constraint. if necessary. to avoid future reversals of revenue. Membership 
revenues relate primarily to fitness centers operated by various hospitals throughout the System, 
and are recognized ratably over the membership period. Revenues front point-of-sale transactions 
are recognized as incurred. 

For the year ended June 30, 2023. other revenue included amounts received under the Coronavirus 
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act. The System recognizes grant payments under 
the CARES Act as revenues when the grant conditions have been substantially met. These 
estimates could change materially based on evolving grant compliance provisions and subsequent 
audit of reported amounts by governmental agencies. The System will continue to monitor the 
evolving guidelines and may record adjustments as additional information is released (see Note 5). 
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Income Taxes 

The authoritative guidance in ASC 740, Income Tuxes, creates a single model to address 
uncertainty in tax positions and clarifies the accountine for income taxes by prescribing the 
minimum recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet befme being recognized in the 
financial statements. Under the requirements of this guidance. tax-exeinpt organizations could be 
required to record an obligation as the result of a tax position they have historically taken on 
various tax exposure items. CHRISTUS has interests in various mable entities, including 
investments in Mexico, Chile. and Colombia. These interests may give rise to U.S. and 
international tax exposures. CHRISTUS intends to utilize foreign earnings in foreign operations 
for an indefinite period of time in order to continue investing all earnings into the continued 
maintenance and expansion of these operations abroad as part of the System's mission. If these 
amounts were distributed to the United States, in the form of dividends or otherwise, the System 
could he subject to additional U.S. income taxes. Determination of the amount of unrecognized 
deferred income tax liabilities on these earnings is not practicable hecause such liability, if any, 
depends on circumstances existing if and when remittance occurs. There are no material 
unrecorded tax liabilities as of June 30, 2024 or 2023. 

At June 30, 2024 and 2023. CHRISTUS has operating loss carryforwards in its domestic 
operations of $169,616.000 and $187,718,000, which result in deferred tax assets of $35,619.000 
and $39,450,000, respectively. CHRISTUS has provided a valuation allowance of the same 
amount as it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. CHRISTUS 
also has net deferred tax assets of approximately $62,432.000 and $43.611,000 as of June 30, 2024 
and 2023, respectively, in its international operations. which relate primarily to certain pension 
liabilities, provisions and allowances, and property and equipment, and which are recorded in other 
assets on the consolidated balance sheets. 

Foreign Currency 

Functional currency is determined for each entity within the System based on the primary currency 
in which the entity generates and expends cash. Each entity denominated in a flinctional currency 
other than the U.S. dollar (USD) is subjected to a remeasurement and translation process. First, 
transactions at these entities that are in a currency other than the functional currency are 
remeasured into the functional currency. Remeasurement (losses) gains recorded as a component 
of nonoperating income were $(39,428.000) and $21,083,000 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 
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2024 and 2023, respectively. Mier all amounts are appropriately measured in the functional 
currency, the financial statements are then translated to USD and consolidated. In tiscal year 2024, 
the System recorded a decrease in net assets due to translation adjustments of $45.481,000 in net 
assets. The cumulative translation adjustment recorded in net assets as ofJune 30, 2024 and 2023. 
was a decrease to net assets of $81,663,000 and S36.182,000, respectively. 

Business Combinations 

CHRISTUS accounts for all transactions that represent business combinations in which it obtains 
control of the acquired entity using the acquisition method of accounting, where the identifiable 
assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquired entity are 
recognized and measured at their fbir values on the date the System obtains control of the acquiree. 

Such fair values that are not tinalized for reporting periods fbllowing the acquisition date are 
estimated and recorded as provisional amounts. Adjustments to these provisional amounts during 
the measurement period (defined as the date through which all infbrmation required to identify 
and measure the consideration transferred. the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any 
noncontrolling interests has been obtained, limited to one year from the acquisition date) are 
recorded in the period in which the final amounts are determined. Goodwill is determined as the 
excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. An inherent contribution is recorded if the fair values of 
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired exceed the consideration conveyed. 

Performance Indicator 

The performance indicator is revenues in excess of expenses, which includes all changes in net 
assets without donor restrictions other than changes in the pension liability funded status, changes 
in noncontrolling interests, net assets released from restrictions for property acquisitions, 
unrealized gains and losses on other-than-trading investments, cumulative effect of changes in 
accounting principles, discontinued operations, contributions of property and equipment, fbreign 
currency remeasurement, and other changes not required to be included within the performance 
indicator under U.S. GAAP. 
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Operating and Nonoperating Activities 

CHRISTUS's primary mission is to meet the healthcare needs in its market areas through a broad 
range of general and specialized healthcare services. including inpatient acute care. outpatient 
services, physician services, and other healthcare services. Activities directly associated with 
fUrthering this purpose are considered to be operating activities. Earnings from the investment 
activities of the offshore captive, community foundations, and holdings in healthcare-specific 
investment funds are also classified as operating activities as such earnings support the operations 
of those organizations. Other activities that result in eains or losses peripheral to CHRISTUS's 
primary mission are considered to be nonoperating. Nonoperating activities include all other 
investment earnings, foreigi currency remeasurement gains and losses. gains or losses from debt 
extinguishment, and net settlement cost and changes in fair value of interest rate swaps. 

Reclassifications 

Certain prior year amounts have been combined with other financial statement line items to 
conform to the current year presentation. Deferred revenue of $262,581.000 as of June 30. 2023. 
has been included in the accounts payable and accrued expenses line item on the consolidated 
balance sheet. 

New Accounting Pronouncements 

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update 
No. (ASU) 2016-13. Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326)• Measurement of Credit 
Losses on Financial Instruments, which provides guidance for accounting fbr credit losses on 
financial instruments. The new guidance introduces an approach based on expected losses to 
estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments and modifies the impairment model 
for availahle-for-sale debt securities. The System adopted the guidance in ASU 2016-13 on July 1, 
2023. using a prospective approach. Adoption of ASU 2016-13 did not materially impact the 
System's consolidated tinancial statements. 

2409-15558-CS 25 



CHRISTUS Health 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

4. Revenue Recognition 

Patient Servke Revenue 

CHRISTUS recognizes patient service revenue in the period in which performance obligations 
under its contracts are satisfied by transferring services to patients. The System measures the 
perlbrmance ohligation for inpatient services from admission to the System facility to the point 
when it is no longer required to provide services to the patient, which is generally at the time of 
discharge. Performance obligations for inpatient services are satistied over time during the 
patients' stay at the applicable facility. For in-house patients, revenue is recognized based on the 
amount of actual charges incurred as of the end of the reporting period. reduced by an estimate of 
contractual adjustments hased on a combination of negotiated rates and historical experience for 
the payor class. Performance obligations for outpatient services are generally satisfied on the date 
of the outpatient visit. Bills to patients and third-party payors are generally sent within a few days 
or weeks of the inpatient discharge or outpatient visit. 

Patient service revenue is reported at amounts that reflect the consideration to which CEIRISTUS 
expects to be entitled for providing patient care. The System's patients include those covered under 
Medicare, Medicaid, managed care health plans, and commercial insurance companies, as well as 
uninsured patients. The System has entered into payment agreements with certain commercial 
insurance carriers. health maintenance oreanizations. and preferred provider organizations. The 
basis for payment to the System under these agreements includes prospectively determined rates 
per discharge. discounts from established charges, and negotiated daily rates. Inpatient acute care 
services and outpatient services rendered to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid at 
prospectively determined rates. These rates vary according to a patient diagnosis-related group 
classification system that is based on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. Inpatient and outpatient 
services rendered to Medicaid program beneficiaries are paid under cost reimbursement 
methodologies, prospectively determined rates per discharge. and prospectively determined or 
negotiated rates. 

The transaction price for each patient is based on the gross charges for services provided, reduced 
by contractual adjustments and discounts detertnined based on contractual or negotiated rates as 
described above. For uninsured and certain underinsured patients. the transaction price is further 
reduced by implicit price concessions, estimated using historical collection percentages, which 
reduce the amount of revenue recognized to amounts the System expects to collect. 
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Revenue under certain third-party payor agreements is subject to audit, retroactive adjustments, 
and significant regulatory actions. Provisions for third-party payor settlements and adjustments are 
estimated and recorded in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods 
as tinal settlements are determined. At June 30. 2024 and 2023, the System has estimated third-
party settlements. net. of $62.492,000 and $50.140,000, respectively, recorded in accounts payable 
and accrued expenses in the consolidated financial statements. Laws and regulations governing the 
Medicare and Medicaid programs are complex and subject to interpretation. As a result, there is at 
least a possibility that recmded estimates will change by a material amount in the near term. Patient 
service revenue includes variable consideration for these retroactive revenue adjustments resulting 
from the settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations using the most likely outcome method. 
For fiscal years 2024 and 2023. revenue increased $9.756.000 and $8.264.000. respectively. 
related to changes in estimates for cost report reopenings. appeals. and tentative and final cost 
report settlements on filed cost reports, of which some are still subject to audit. additional 
reopening. andlor appeal. 

The transaction price for patient services provided depends greatly upon the System's payor mix 
as collections on gross charges can vary significantly. depending on a patient's insurance coverage. 
or lack thereof', and the extent of amounts due from patients thr co-pays. coinsurance. and 
deductibles. Various factors affect collection trends within each major class of payors. These 
include general economic conditions, including unemployment rates. which may influence the 
number of uninsured and underinsured patients: regulatory changes that affect reimbursement rates 
from governmental programs such as Medicare and Medicaid: and ongoing contract negotiations 
with managed care health plans and commercial insurance providers. In addition. estimates of 
implicit price concessions offered to uninsured patients or related to co-pays, coinsurance, and 
deductibles of patients with insurance are subject to change as historical collection and write-off 
experience are analyzed on a monthly hasis. These changes are recorded as adjustments to the 
transaction price in the period in which the estimates are revised. Subsequent adjustments that are 
determined to he the result of an adverse change in the patient's or the payor's ability to pay are 
recogthzed as bad debt expense, which is recorded as a component of other operating expenses on 
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets. 
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The following table summarizes the amount of net patient service revenue recognized bv payor 
(in thousands): 

Domestic operations: 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Amount 
Percentage 

of "total Amount 
Percentage 

of Total 

    

Medicare $ 2.594.786 34% $ 2,286,246 

 

Medicaid 1,112,626 15 1,049999 15 
Managed care 2,449,732 32 2.347.924 34 
Self-pay 572.929 8 458,852 

 

Other 185,266 2 177.433 

 

Subtotal domestic operations 6.915.339 91 6,320,454 93 
International operations: 

    

Mexico payors (private 
insurance and 
governinent payors) 612,691 8 480.581 7 

Colombia payors (private 
insurance and 
government payors ) 46,323 1 

  

Net patient service revenue 7.574.353 100% $ 6,801,035 100% 

The System also receives payments through state supplemental payrnent programs. which includes 
Disproportional Share (DSH) payments in multiple states and the 1115 (b) Waiver Program 
(Waiver Program) payments in the state of Texas, as well as other state-related directed payments. 

Federal law permits state Medicaid programs to make DSH payments to hospitals that serve a 
disproportionately large number of Medicaid and low-income patients. These funds are not tied to 
specific services for Medicaid-eligible patients. The federal government distributes federal 
Medicaid DSH funds to each state based on a statutory formula. Revenue under the DSH programs 
is recognized as a component of net patient service revenue over the benefit period when 
information is received from the states regarding the amount and timing of DSH payments to be 
received for the applicable period. CHRISTUS believes that its pertbrmance obligations are 
generally satisfied ratably over the applicable period and recognizes revenue on a monthly basis. 

The System recorded $105.245.000 and $118.553,000 in net patient service revenue during fiscal 
years 2024 and 2023, respectively, related to the DSH proaram. 
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In December 2011, the Centers ibr Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) approved the Waiver 
Program submitted by the Texas Health and Human Services Commission (HHSC). The Waiver 
Program has historically provided supplemental payments to hospitals through two pools• 
Uncompensated Care (UC) and Delivery System Reform Incentive Payments (DSRIP). On 
July 14. 2021 HHSC suhmitted to CMS its request to extend and to amend the waiver program 
through September 30, 2030. The extension was ultimately granted on April 22. 2022. Per the 
terms of prior renewals, the DSRIP prograin ended on September 30, 2021; therefore, only UC 
payments will continue through the end of the Waiver Prop-am. 

Revenue under the Waiver Progratn is recognized tis a component of net patient service revenue 
over the applicable demonstration year. The System recorded $184,909.000 and $224,237,000 in 
net patient service revenue during tiscal years 2024 and 2023, respectively, related to the Waiver 
Program. 

In addition to payments under the Waiver Program, the state of Texas also makes directed 
payinents to hospitals for inpatient and outpatient service's. Effective September 1, 2021, these 
payments are made through the Comprehensive Hospital Increase Reimbursement Program 
(CHIRP). CHIRP was designed to reimburse providers closer to the average commercial rate. The 
System recorded approximately $236,435,000 and 5224,810,000 in net patient service revenue 
during the tiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. respectively. related to CHIRP. Effective 
July 1. 2022, the state of Louisiana makes directed payinents to hospitals for inpatient and 
outpatient services under the Money Follows the Patient (MFP) program. The System recorded 
approximately $66.718,000 and $65,866,000 in net patient service revenue related to MFP during 
the tiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. respectively. 

The System recorded deferred revenues of $58,994.000 and $77,800.000 as of June 30, 2024 and 
2023, respectively, for consideration received related to state supplemental payment programs for 
which the performance obligation has not yet been met. Upon satisfaction of the performance 
obligations in tiscal years 2024 and 2023, the System recognized $77,800,000 and $38.600.000, 
respectively. in net patient service revenue related to amounts included in deterred revenue as of 
June 30. 2023 and 2022. respectively. 
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The healthcare industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state, and local 
governments. These laws and regulations include, but are not necessarily limited to, matters such 
as licensure. accreditation, participation requirements of government healthcare programs. 
reimbursement for patient services, and Medicare and Medicaid fraud and abuse. Government 
activity has continued with respect to investigations and allegations concerning possible violations 
of fraud and ahuse statutes and regulations by healthcare providers. Violations of these laws and 
regulations could result in expulsion from government healthcare programs, together with the 
imposition of significant fines and penalties. as well as significant repayments for patient services 
previously billed. Termination of the System's participation in the Medicare or Medicaid programs 
coukl have a material impact in the consolidated financial statetnents. 

5. ( ON ID-1) Pandemic and CARES Act 

The outbreak of COVID-19, a respiratory disease caused bY a novel strain coronavirus. had 
significant adverse impacts on the operations and financial condition of healthcare providers 
generally. Initially. the treatment of this contagious disease at healthcare facilities resulted in a 
temporary shutdown or diversion of patients from those facilities, deferral or avoidance of elective 
procedures and other medical treatment unrelated to COVID-19, and staffing and supply shortages. 

A variety of federal, state, and local efforts were initiated in response to the C()VID-19 crisis, the 
largest of which was the Provider Relief Program under the CARES Act enacted on March 27, 
2020. The CARES Act is a federal stimulus package designed to provide emergency assistance to 
individuals and businesses, including hospitals and other healthcare providers. CHRISTUS 
received approximately $410.000.000 in stimulus fundine under the Provider Relief Program to 
cover unreimbursed healthcare-related expenses attributable to the public health emergency and 
lost revenues resulting from COVID-19. CHRISTUS follows grant accounting to recognize the 
stimulus funding as other operating revenue, based on guidance from the U.S. Department of 
Health & Human Services (FIFIS). Approximately $0 and S81,500.000 of these funds have been 
recoenized as other revenue fbr the fiscal Years ended June 30. 2024 and 2023. respectively. 
Regulations governing the receipt, usage, and reporting of CARES Act funds are complex and 
subject to interpretation. Revenue under the CARES Act is also subject to audit and potential 
recoupment if CHRISTUS has not demonstrated that CARES Act funds were properly used for 
unreimbursed expenses attributable to coronavirus or lost revenue, as defined in the regulations. 
As a result, there is a possibility that estimates of revenue recognized could change by a material 
atnount in the near term. 
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6. Cash and Investments 

Total cash and investments for the System at June 30, including assets whose use is limited, are as 
follows (in thousands): 

 

2024 2023 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,138,819 $ 1.424,835 
Certi ficates of deposit 36,754 39,102 
Domestic equities 171,213 176.269 
International equities 7,492 6,186 
Fixed-income securities 156,557 174,438 
U.S. government securities 361,884 336,014 

Mutual funds and other similar investtnent funds: 

  

Domestic equity flinds 144,026 132.123 
International equity funds 129,901 123,196 
Fixed-income funds 245,285 212,9R4 
Risk parity. blended. and other funds 38,376 12,774 

Equity investtnents in manaeed funds: 

  

Fixed-income funds 204,810 154,519 
Hedge funds 271,002 288,461 
Private equity, real estate, and other 103,169 90,530 

 

$ 3,009,288 $ 3. 1 7 I .44 1 

The System's investments are subject to various types of risks, as explained below. 

Fixed Income and Es. Government Securities 

This investment class includes investments in various fixed-income instruments that include 
investment-grade and high-yield domestic and international bonds, preferred stocks, mortgage 
pools, master limited partnership units, and bonds issued by U.S. government agencies. The fixed-
income investments are exposed to various kinds and levels of risk, including interest rate risk, 
credit risk, foreip exchange risk, and liquidity risk. 
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6. Cash and Investments (continued) 

Equities 

This investment class consists primarily of common and preferred equity securities of domestic 
and foreign companies. These securities trade through the major public domestic and international 
exchanges. The equity securities investments are exposed to various risks, including market risk, 
individual security risk; foreign exchange risk; and, for cornrnon equity of companies with a small 
market capitalization, liquidity risk. 

Mutual Funds and Other Similar Inv estment Funds 

This investment class includes investments in mutual funds, exchange-traded funds. common 
collective trust funds. and other similar investment funds that generally hold investments in 
marketable debt and equity securities. Investments in mutual funds, exchange-traded funds. 
common collective trust funds, and similar funds in this category are exposed to various risks, 
including market risk and risks associated with the specific securities held within the funds. Certain 
funds within this category are valued based on amounts reported to the System by the fund 
managers. generally in the form of NAV per share or an equivalent measure. 

Equity Investments in Managed Funds 

Equity investments in managed funds include investments in limited liability partnerships or 
corporations and other alternative investments. The System's equity investments in managed funds 
are recorded based on the System's share of the underlying value of marketable securities and 
nonmarketable interests held by these funds as reported to the System by the fund managers. 
generally in the form of NAV or an equivalent measure. The underlying securities in managed 
funds could include marketable debt and equity securities, nonmarketable securities, derivative 
instruments, or any other investment securities determined at the discretion of the fund managers. 
These investments are recorded at amounts confirmed by fund managers, and there can be no 
assurance such reported amounts will ultirnately be realized. 

These funds are invested with external investment manaeers who invest primarily in various 
categories. including fixed income. long and short equity positions. managed futures. emerging 
markets, distressed enterprises, arbitrage, risk parity, private equity, and real estate positions. 
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6. C:ash and Investments (continued) 

These investments are domestic and international in nature, are illiquid, and returns may not be 
realized for a period of several years after the investments are made. The risks associated with 
these investments are numerous. resulting in a greater likelihood of losing invested capital. The 
risks include the following: 

Non-Regulation Risk - Some of these funds are not required to register with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission and are not subject to regulatory controls. 

Managerkil Risk - Fund managers may fail to produce the intended returns and are not subject 
to oversight. 

Minimal Liquidity - Many funds impose lockup periods or restrictions on timing of 
redemptions that prevent investors from redeeming their shares or impose penalties to redeem. 

Limited Transparency - As unregistered investrnent vehicles, fiinds are not required to disclose 
the holdings in their portfolios to investors. 

Investment Strategy Risk - The funds often employ sophisticate& risky investment strategies, 
are speculative, and may use leverage, which could result in volatile returns. 

At June 30, 2024, the System had commitments to fund equity investments in private equitv funds 
totaling $6,781.00(l, excluding commitments to fund equity investments in private equity funds 
held by the CHR1STUS Health Cash Balance Plan (the Cash Balance Plan — see Note 13). 

Assets whose use is limited or restricted consisted of the following at June 30 (in thousands): 

 

2024 2(123 
Assets whose use is limited or restricted. required for 

current bond indenture and self-insurance liabilities $ 57,188 ti 56,034 
Other investments. internally designated for capital 

expansion and other purposes 609,285 579,472 
Under bond indenture agreement — held by trustee 2,596 168,789 
Under liability retention and self-insurance funding 

arrangement — held by trustee 7,764 3,381 
Under Emerald Assurance funding arrangements 156,270 133,138 
Restricted cash and investments 70,074 92,681 
Total assets whose use is limited or restricted $ 903,177 $ 1,033,495 
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6. Cash and Investments (continued) 

Restricted cash and investments relate prirnarily to investments required to be rnaintained in 
perpetuity under the System's endowments, or to cash and investments restricted by donors for the 
acquisition of capital assets. 

Investment returns and losses for assets limited as to use, cash equivalents, and other unrestricted 
investments consisted of the following for the fiscal years ended June 30 (in thousands). 

 

2024 2023 

Operating interest and dividend income ss 31,698 20,901 
Operating gain. realized and unrealized 27,987 7,874 
Equity investment gain on managed fimds 2.968 4.816 

Total operating investment income 62,653 33.591 

Nonoperating interest and dividend income 36,295 31,426 
Nonoperating gain. realized and unrealized 53,248 32,672 
Equity investment gain On rnanaged funds 34,756 21,334 
Net swap agreement activity 12,961 2'1,249 
Total nonoperating investment gain. net 137,260 107.681 
Total investment gain. net $ 199,913 $ 141.272 

7. Fair Value Measurements 

The three-level valuation hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements is based on the 
transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as of the reporting date. The three 
levels are defined as follows• 

• Level 1 — Inputs to the valuation methodoloey are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical 
assets or liabilities at the reporting date. 

• Level 2 — Inputs to the valuation methodology other than quoted market prices included in 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability. Level 2 pricing inputs include quoted 
prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets and inputs that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. for substantially the full terin of the 
financial instrument. 
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7. Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

• Level 3 — Inputs that are generally unobservable and typically retlect management's 
estimate of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. 

A financial instrurnent's cateeorization within the valuation hierarchy is based on the lowest level 
of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. There were no significant transfers 
between levels during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 or 2023. 

The following tables present the financial instruments carried at fair value as of June 30 
(in thousands) by the valuation hierarchy (as described above): 

Assets 

 

2024 

 

Level 1 Levd 2 

 

Level 3 Total 

    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,138,819 $ 

 

— $ 1,138,819 
Iin estments: 

    

Certificates of deposit — 36,754 

 

— 36,754 
Domestic equities 171,213 

  

- 171,213 
International equities 7.492 

  

— 7,492 
Fixed-income securities — 156,557 

 

— 156,557 
U.S. government securities — 361,884 

 

— 361,884 
Mutual funds and other similar investment 

funds: 

    

Domestic equity funds 77,748 — 

 

— 77,748 
International equity funds 92,587 — 

 

— 92,587 
Fixed-income funds 145,961 — 

 

— 145,961 
Risk parity, blended, and other funds 38,376 — 

 

— 38,376 
Total investments at fair value $ 1,672,196 $ 555,195 $ 2,227,391 
Investments measured at fair value, using net 

asset value or equivalent: 

    

Equity funds 

   

103,592 
Fixed-income fimds 

   

124,434 
Hedge funds 

   

64,136 
Private equity. real estate. and other funds 

   

6,007 
Total assets at fair value 

  

$ '7,515,560 

Liabilities 

   

Interest rate swap agreements — $ 34.730 $ — s 34,730 
Total liabilities at fair value 34,730 $ — $ 34,730 
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7. Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

Assets 

 

2023 

 

Level 1 Level 2 

 

Level 3 Total 

    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1.424,835 $ 

 

- S 1,424,835 
Investments. 

    

Certificates of deposit 

 

39,102 

 

39,102 
Domestic equities 176,269 

  

176,269 
International equities 6.186 

  

6,186 
Fixed-income securities 

 

174,438 

 

174.438 
U.S. government securities 

 

336.014 

 

336,014 
Mutual funds and other similar investment 

funds: 

    

Domestic equity funds 6'.953 

  

62,953 
International equity funds 90,868 

  

90,868 
Fixed-income funds 121.514 

  

1_'I.514 
Risk parity, blended, and other funds 12,774 

  

12.774 
Total investments at fair value $ 1.895.399 $ 549.554 S 2,444,953 

Int estments measured at fair value, using net 
asset value or equivalent. 

    

Equity funds 

   

101,498 
Fixed-income funds 

   

105,422 
Hedge funds 

   

59,960 
Private equity, real estate, and other funds 

   

6,354 
Total assets at fair value 

   

S 2,71S,187 

Liabilities 

    

Interest rate swap ageements 

 

s 47.153 S - S 47,153 
Total liabilities at fair value 5 5 17.I53 S S 47.153 

The tables above include equity investments in managed funds held within the System's 
foundations and captive insurer. Remaining equity investments in tnanaged funds held by other 
System entities of $483.728,000 and S453.254,000 at June 30. 2024 and 2023, respectively, are 
not included in this tahle since they are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 
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7. Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

The vahiation methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value as presented in the tables 
above are as follows. 

• Investments — Investments valued at quoted prices available in an active market are 
classified within Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy. Investments valued based on evaluated 
bid prices provided by third-party pricing services, where quoted market prices are not 
available, are classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy. Investments measured 
at fair value using net asset value per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient are not 
cateeorized within the fair value hierarchy. These investments consist of hedee funds. 
cotnmodity funds, common collective trust funds, private equity funds. real estate funds, 
and some equity and fixed-income funds. 

• Interest nae simp agreements — Interest rate swap agreements are valued using third-party 
models that use observable market conditions as their input and are classified within 
Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy. 

At June 30.2024 and 2023. the System's financial instruments included cash and cash equivalents, 
accounts receivable, assets limited as to use. accounts payahle and accnied expenses, lease right-
of-use assets and obligations, and long-term deht. The carryine amounts reported on the 
consolidated halance sheets for these financial instruments, except fbr long-term deht, approximate 
their fair values. 

8. Leases 

The System utilizes operating and finance leases for the use of various facilities and equipment. 
All lease agreements generally require the System to pay maintenance, repairs, property taxes, and 
insurance costs, which are variable amounts based on actual costs incurred during each applicable 
period. Such costs are not included in the deterniination of the right-of-use asset or lease liability. 
Variable lease cost also includes escalating rent payments that are not fixed at commencement but 
are hased on an index that is determined in future periods over the lease term hased on changes in 
the consumer price index or other measure of cost intlation. Certain equipment leases include non-
lease components, such as minimum purchase requirements for consumable products associated 
with the equipment. The System has elected the practical expedient that allows lessees to choose 
not to separate lease and non-lease components by class of underlyine asset and are applying this 
expedient to all relevant asset classes. 
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8. Leases (continued) 

Leases may include one or more options to renew. The exercise of lease renewal options is at the 
System's sole discretion. In general, the System does not consider renewal options to be reasonably 
likely to be exercised; therefore, renewal options are generally not recognized as part of right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities. Certain leases also include options to purchase the leased asset. 
These options are typically to purchase the leased assets at fair market value and therefore do not 
impact classification of the lease. 

The components of lease cost for the fiscal years ended June 3() consisted of the following 
lin thousands): 

 

2U24 2U23 

Operating lease cost $ 57.690 ti 59,58' 

Finance lease cost: 

  

Amortization of right-of-use assets 12,459 14.157 
Interest on lease liabilities 7.173 9.173 

Total finance lease cost 19,632 23,330 

Short-term and variable lease cost 80,813 65.134 
Total lease cost . $ 158,135 $ 148,046  

Supplemental cash flow and other information related to leases as of and for the fiscal years ended 
June 30 are as follows (dollars in thousands): 

 

2024 

 

2023 
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement 

of lease liabilities: 

   

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 58,497 ti 60,222 
Operating cash tlows from finance leases 7,197 

 

8,953 
Financing cash flows from finance leases 14,194 

 

14,311 

Rieht-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new 
operating leases 46,853 

 

67,917 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new 

financing leases 1,815 

 

42,832 
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2024 2023 
Weighted average remaining lease term. 

Operating leases 8.7 years 8.1 years 
Finance leases 12.8 years 13.7 years 

Weighted average discount rate. 
Operating leases 4.71% 3.30% 
Finance leases 4.54% 4.7n) 

Future undiscounted cash flows and inaturnie of lex,e liabilities at June 30. 2024. are pre.cented 
in the following tahle (in thousands): 

 

Operating 
Leases 

Finance 
Leases Total 

2025 $ 43,893 $ 2(),448 $ 64,341 
2026 39,721 20,204 59,925 
2027 34,004 15,589 49,593 
2028 29,191 15,025 44,216 
2029 22,978 15,249 38,227 
Thereafler 105,381 110,599 215,980 
Total minimum lease payments 275,168 197,114 472,282 
Less imputed interest (49,265) (45,477) (94,742) 
Total lease liabilities 225,903 151,637 377,540 
Less current portion (39,104) (13,889) (52,993) 
Long-tenn lease liabilities $ 186,799 $ 137,748 $ 324,547 
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9. Property and Equiprnent 

Property and equipment at June 30 consisted of the followim2 (in tliot,and.,:)• 

 

2024 

 

2023 

Land $ 319,838 $ 288,401 
Land improvements 114,043 

 

99,809 
Buildings and fixed equipment 4,603,155 

 

4,043.591 
Major movable equipment 2,404,599 

 

2.027,941 
Accumulated depreciation (3.681,263) 

 

(3.475.1 19) 

 

3.760,372 

 

2.984,623 
Construction-in-progess (estimated cost to complete 

is $587.828 at June 30, 2(124) 422,359 

 

615 /13 
Total $ 4,182,722 S 3,609,836 

Depreciation expense for the System for fiscal years 2024 and 2023 totaled $294.575,000 and 
$294.113,000. respectively. 

10. Investments in Unconsolidated Organizations 

CHRISTUS owns a 50% noncontrolling interest in U.C. CHRISTUS Salud SpA (CHRISTUS 
Salud). which owns and operates certain hospital. clinic. and other healthcare facilities in Chile. 
The investment in CHRISTUS Salud is treated as an equity method investment. As of June 30, 
2024 and 2023, CHRISTUS's investment in CHRISTUS Salud was $170,516,000 and 
$197.645.000. respectively. During fiscal years 2024 and 2023, CHRISTUS made additional 
capital contributions to CHRISTUS Salud of $5,394,000 and $10,227,000, respectively. The 
System's share of (losses) income from the operations for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 
2023, was $(1,410.0(l0) and $5.631,000. respectively. During fiscal years 2024 and 2023, 
CHRISTUS's investment in CHRISTUS Salud changed by $(30,78(1,000) and $25,083.000, 
respectively. due to changes in the exchange rate and the resulting translation adjustment. 

In January 2023, CHRISTUS purchased the real estate and land used to operate the San Carlos 
hospital from. and leased the real estate back to, CHRISTUS Salud. Consideration transferred for 
the purchase included cash and other assets. This transaction did not impact CHRISTUS's equity 
method earnings or investment. At the same time, CHRISTUS Salud acquired the operations of a 
hospital owned by CHRISTUS's joint venture partner and entered into a lease of the related real 
estate. 
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CHRISTUS has management and license fee mangements with CHRISTUS Salud. and with 
certain other unconsolidated subsidiaries and joint venture partners, under which CHRISTUS 
provides nlanagement services and licenses its trade name and certain other intellectual property. 
CHRISTtJS recorded other revenue related to rental income and manaeement and license fee 
agreements of $29,233.000 and $42,805.000 during the fiscal years ended June 30. 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. Approximately $9.807,000 and $24.844.000 of the management and license fee 
revenue recognized in fiscal year 2024 and 2023, respectively, was related to services provided in 
prior tiscal years. 

CHRISTUS and its affiliates hold immaterial investtnents in other unconsolidated subsidiaries. No 
other single investment balance exceeded 0.5% of total assets at June 30, 2024 or 2023. 
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11. Deht 

Debt at June 30 consisted of the following (in thousands): 

   

2024 2023 
Obligations issued under the CHRISTLIS Health Master Trust 

  

Indenture (CHRISTUS MTI). 

  

Revenue bonds, in variahle-rate demand mode, with weighted 
average interest rates of 3.54% and 2.56% in fiscal years 
2024 and 2023, respectively, due in annual installments 
through July 1, 2047 (Series 2008C and 2009B) $ 223,015 $ 223,015 

Revenue bonds, in auction mode, with weighted average 
interest rates of 4.59% and 3.00% in fiscal years 2024 and 
2023, respectively (Series 2005A and B) 

 

104.825 
Revenue bonds, in fixed-rate mode, bearing interest from 

4.00% to 5.00%, due in annual installments through July I, 
2053 (Series 20I8A, B, D, and E.; Series 2019A; Series 
2022A and B. and Series 2024A and B) 1,164,935 864,790 

Direct-placement notes due in annual instalhnents through 
July 1. 2041 (Series 2016A and D) 71,625 73,075 

Tax-exempt hank note due in annual installments beginnin2 
July 1, 2035 through July 1, 2039 (Series 2(t16E) 57,105 57,105 

Taxahle honds due as a balloon payment on July 1. 2028 
(Series 2018C') 339,536 339.536 

Term loans 100,000 340,000 

Anchorum St. Vincent note payable 377,073 

 

Other notes 129,473 76.167 

 

2,462,762 2,078,513 
Premiums, net, on long-term debt 9,542 49,18(i 
Unamortized deferred financinQ costs (9,511) (9.485) 

 

2,-162,793 2,118,214 
Less current portion of long-term debt and short-term debt (92,799) (275,2(i2) 
Less amounts subject to remarketing agreements, classified as 

current 

 

(63.805) 
Total long-term debt $ 2,369,994 $ 1,779,147 
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11. Debt (continued) 

According to the terms of the CHRISTUS Master Trust Indenture (MTI). CHRISTUS and the 
majority of its wholly owned subsidiaries are members of the CHRISTUS Health Obligated Group 
(Obligated Group). The obligations of CHRISTUS and the other members of the Obligated Group 
are secured by a pledge of gxoss revenues. Additionally, each member of the (_lblieated Group is 
obligated, pursuant to the CHRISTUS MTI and certain insurer and credit bank agreements. to 
comply with certain covenants. including the following: to ensure the payment of debt service: to 
ensure the payment of taxes and other claims, to deliver compliance statemengs); to preserve 
corporate existence; to maintain books and records subject to inspection by the Master Trustee, to 
maintain insurance; to conform to defined lien limitations. to establish adequate service rates, to 
maintain a sufficient debt service coverage; to adhere to certain defined conditions with respect to 
consolidation, merger, conveyance, or transfer and admission or withdrawal of Obligated Group 
members; to adhere to certain limitations on disposition of assets: to adhere to certain limitations 
on the incurrence of additional debt, to maintain compliance with certain indebtedness ratios; and 
to maintain certain levels of liquidity. Certain of these covenants are made only Ibr the benefit of 
the bond and swap insurers and/or credit banks, and are effective only for as long as the related 
debt or other obligations are outstanding and only unless waived or amended by the bond and swap 
insurers and/or credit banks. 

CHRISTUS has bank letter of credit agreements on its Series 2008C and 2009B variable-rate 
demand bonds. The Series 2008C-1 bonds have an outstanding ainount of S41A35,000 and are 
supported by a letter of credit provided by Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation. acting through 
its New York branch, that expires on March 8, 2027. The 2008C-2 bonds have an outstanding 
amount of $38.305.000 and are supported by a letter of credit provided by The Bank of New York 
Mellon that expires on July 3. 2025. The 2008C-3 bonds have an outstanding amount of 
$41.030,000, and the 2008C-4 bonds have an outstanding amount of $38,440.000. The 2008C-3 
and 2008C-4 bonds are supported by letters of credit provided by TD Bank that expire on 
January 16, 2029. The 2009B-1 and 2009B-3 bonds have outstanding amounts of $19,310.000 and 
$29,050,000. respectively, and are supported by letters of credit provided by Sumitomo Mitsui 
Banking Corporation, acting through its New York branch, that expire on January 16, 2029. The 
2009B-2 bonds have an outstanding amount of $15,445.000 and are supported by a letter of credit 
provided by TD Bank that expires on January 15, 2027. 
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On May 1. 2024, CHRISM'S issued Series 2()24A-B bonds. consisting of $308,695.000 of tax-
exempt revenue and refunding bonds. The Series 2024 bonds are tixed rate obligations, comprising 
both serial and term bonds carrying an interest rate of 5% and maturing in various ainounts through 
fiscal year 2033. Proceeds of the Series 2024 bonds were used. in part, to repay $94.328,000 of 
outstanding Series 2005A-3, 2005A-4, and 2005B-2 bonds and accnied interest. 

In tiscal year 2023, the System entered into a line of credit with Bank of America for $75,000,000 
that expires on April 28, 2()25. This line of credit carries a variable interest rate equal to the 
Bloombere Short-Tenn Bank Yield Index rate plus 0.65%. In fiscal Year 2022. the System entered 
into a line of credit with Royal Bank of Canada for $75,000.000 that terminates on June 29, 2025. 
This line of credit carries a variable interest rate with multiple rate options including a daily or 
one-month London Interbank Offered Rate or its replacement as selected or recommended hy the 
Federal Reserve or its committees plus 0.45%. At both June 30. 2024 and 2023. CHRISTUS had 
$0 drawn against any line of credit. 

On June 29. 2023, the System entered into term loan agreements of S120.000,000 with Royal Bank 
of Canada and $120,000,000 with JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association. Both of these 
term loans carried a variable interest rate equal to the Daily Simple Secured Overnight Financing 
Rate and had an orieinal rnaturity date of June 28, 2024. The proceeds from these loans were used 
to fund the acquisition of Gerald Chatnpion Regional Medical Center (GCRMC) described in 
Note 18. Both term loans were paid in full in May 2024. On July 15, 2020, the System entered into 
a term loan agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association for $100,000,000. The 
term loan carries an interest rate of 2.13% and matures on July 1. 2027. 

Effective September 1, 2023, the System entered into a note payable agreement for $377,073.000 
in connection with the purchase from Anchorum of the 50% noncontrolling interest in CHRISTUS 
St. Vincent Regional Medical Center (St. Vincent) described in Note 18. The note is due ratably 
in annual installments beginning August 31, 2()24 through August 31. 2032. and bears no interest 
until September 1, 2030. Beeinning September 1, 2030. the note will bear interest at a rate equal 
to the prime lending rate plus 1%, adjusted annually. The System recorded a discount on the note 
of $75.090,000, included as a reduction of long-term debt. The discount is being accreted to 
interest expense over the interest-free period using the effective interest method. 
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11. Debt (contiuued) 

Other notes were $129,472,000 and S76.167,000 as ofiune 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and 
include various notes issued primarily to purchase buildings and equipment. 

Principal payments for all lone-term debt for the next five years and thereafter are as follows 
(in thousands): 

2015 $ 91.799 
2026 90,805 
2027 1()1,211 
2028 188,743 
2029 425.382 
Thereafter 1,563,822 
Total long-term debt S 2.462,762 

12. Derivative Financial Instruments 

The System's derivative instruments consist primarily of interest rate swap contracts between the 
System and third parties (counterparties), which provide for the periodic exchange of payments 
between the parties based on changes in a defined index and a fixed rate. These swaps expose the 
System to market risk and credit risk. Credit risk is the risk that contractual obligations of the 
counterparties will not be fulfilled. Concentrations of credit risk relate to groups of coumerparties 
that have similar economic or industry characteristics that would cause their ability to meet 
contractual ohligations to be similarly affected hy changes in economic or other conditions. 

Counterparty credit risk is managed hy requiring high credit standards for the System's 
counterparties. The counterparties to these contracts are financial institutions that carry 
investment-grade credit ratings. 

Market risk is the adverse effect on the value of a financial instrument that results from a change 
in interest rates. The market risk associated with interest rate changes is managed hy establishing 
and monitoring parameters which limit the types and degrees of market risk that may be 
undertaken. Management also mitigates risk through periodic reviews of its derivative positions in 
the context of its blended cost of capital. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, CHRISTUS has interest 
rate swap ageements to manage interest rate risk exposure, not designated as hedging instruments, 
with a total notional amount of $381,235.000 and $462,160,000. respectively. 
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12. Derivative Financial Instruments (c(Intinued) 

The following table summarizes the fair value at June 30, 2024 and 2023 and the income (loss) 
recorded related to the System's derivative instruments as of and for the tiscal years ended June 30, 
2024 and 2023 (in thousands): 

Fair Value ( !ulnae in Fair Value (Paid) ReceiN ed  
I el-initiation Notional Julie 3U. June 30. June 3U. Flute 30. Flute 30. June 30. 

Counterpartl Description Date Aereeittents %Ancona 2024 2023 2024 2023 2(124 2023 

Inlet e,t Rale Swaps 
Lyudi Vat basis 2022-2023 

 

Sci•711400 S — S 200 S (209) S 44 S 197 S 462 
F argo Fixed luyor 2031 t Itil,475112.60 (1,179) (2 030) 851 4 493 367 (iss.t) 

C group' Fixed payor 2047 2 166 Wu (20.279) (27.15E) kr9 12 216 (38) (1 1S3 
Citigroup• Fixed payor 2n4" 1 11.1.160 (13,272) (18,lo5) 4,893 8.340 12 (1.0-10) 

   

4:5 S381.235:462.1(+0 S(34.7301 $(47.153) S 12.423 S 2c.O.1 S 538 S O.8441 

'Insured by MIRA 

CHRISTUS is required to post collateral under certain circumstances for negative valuations on 
each of its swaps according to the terms of (1) the swap insurance affeements. where applicable, 
and (2) the agreetnent with each counterparty. CHRISTUS has complied with this requirement. At 
June 30. 2024 and 2023, no collateral was posted. The System does not anticipate nonperformance 
by its counterpartles. 

The fair value of these derivative instruments was a liability of $34,730.000 and $47.153,000 at 
June 30, 2()24 and 2023, respectively. The change in value of $12,423,000 and $25,093,000 for 
the fiscal years ended June 30. 2024 and 2023, respectively. is combined with the net receipts 
(payments) made under the ageements of $538,000 and $(2,844,000) for the tiscal years ended 
June 30. 2024 and 2023. respectively. This total is included in nonoperating investment gain (loss). 
net. on the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets. 

13. Empinyee Benefit Plans 

Defined Benefit Plans 

Cash Balance Pion 

The System has established a noncontributory, defined benefit retirement plan that operates as a 
cash balance plan and covers substantially all CHRISTUS employees who had met age and service 
requirements as of December 31, 2012. On Octoher 23, 2012, the CHRISTUS board approved the 
closing of the plan to new participants. effective January 1, 2013. 
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The plan benefits are calculated based on a cash balance formula wherein participants earn an 
annual accrual based on compensation and participation account balances accrue interest at a rate 
that tracks ten-year treasury notes; the maximum rate is 8%. The plan was frozen as of July 1. 
2019. 

Mother Frances Hospital alined BenOt Pension Plan 

The System administers the Mother Frances Hospital Defined Benetit Pension Plan (TMF Plan). 
which covers all employees who meet the eligibility requirements. The plan was frozen as of 
December 31, 2009. 

The measurement date for the Cash Balance Plan and the TMF Plan (collectively. the Defined 
Benetit Plans) is June 30. For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the net periodic benetit 
cost (credit) for the Cash Balance Plan was $13.022,000 and $(7,249.0(10), respectively. For the 
years ended June 30. 2024 and 2023, the net periodic benefit cost (credit) fill-  the TMF Plan was 
$3.822,000 and $2.431,000, respectively. The net periodic benefit cost (credit) is recorded in other 
nonoperating gains. net. on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes 
in net assets. CHRISTUS uses a full yield curve "spot rate" approach that applies the specific spot 
rates alone the yield curve to the plans' projected cash flows in order to estimate the interest cost 
component of net periodic benefit credit. 

The Defined Benefit Plans' net periodic benefit credit consists primarily of atnortization of 
expected returns. offset by interest and other costs. No settletnent charges were recopized during 
fiscal years 2024 or 2023. 

The following table sets forth the funded status of the Defined Benefit Plans measured as of 
June 30 (in thousands): 

(:ash Balance Plan TNIF Plan 

Fair value of plan assets — end of 

2024 2023 2024 2023 

    

year $ 868,207 $ 847,963 $ 162,935 $ 164,531 
Benefit obligation - end of year 829,164 847.430 144,537 149.878 
Overftinded status $ 39,043 S 533 18,398 14.653 
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As of June 30. 2024 and 2023, the Defined Benefit Plans had accumulated benefit obhgations of 
$973,701,000 and $997,308,000, respectively. Assumptions used to detennine benefit obligations 
and net periodic benefit (credit) cost for the fiscal years were as follows. 

Benefit obligations• 

Cash Balance Plan TN1F Plan 
2924 2923 2924 2923 

    

Discount rate 5.33% 4.96% 5.36% 4.98:0 
Interest crediting rate 4.33 3.71 N/A N,A 

Net periodic benefit cost (credit). 

    

Discount rate 4.96 4.60 4.98 4.67 
Interest crediting rate 3.71 3.10 N/A NiA 
Expected long-term return on plan 

assets 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50 

As ofJune 30, 2024 and 2023, the total amount recognized in net assets without donor restrictions 
was $122,034,000 and 5173,488.000. respectively. For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 
2023, the change in pension plan obligations recognized in net assets without donor restrictions 
was $(51,454.00(?) and $(3,889,000), respectively. 

Investment Policy and Asset Allocations 

The investment policies and strategies for the assets of the Cash Balance Plan incorporate a well-
diversified approach that is expected to generate long-term returns from capital appreciation and a 
growing stream of current income. This approach recognizes that assets are exposed to risk and 
the market value of the plan assets may fluctuate from year to year. Risk tolerance is determined 
based on the plan's financial stability and the ability to withstand return volatility. This balanced 
approach is expected to earn long-term total returns. consisting of capital appreciation and current 
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income, which are comrnensurate with the expected rate of return used by the plans. The actual 
returns on the Cash Balance Plan assets for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, were 
$74,471.000 and $35,933,000, respectively. The target allocation of Cash Balance Plan assets, by 
asset category, is as fiAlows as of June 30: 

 

Cash Balance Plan 
2024 2023 

Allocation of plan assets, by asset category: 

  

Cash and cash equivalents % 0.-

 

Equity securities and equity funds 15 15 
Fixed-income securities and fixed-income funds 30 30 
Equity investments in managed funds (Note 61 55 5 6 

Total 100 % 100 

Due to the overfunded status of the TMF Plan, CHRISTUS has adopted an investment policy for 
the TMF Plan which incorporates a liability-driven investment approach that thcuses on the funded 
status of the plan and seeks to match the duration of the assets with that of the liabilities. As such, 
the investment portfolio allocation is cornprised of 56% long duration fixed-income securities, 
18% equity securities. IS% core fixed-income securities. and 11% alternatives. The TMF Plan's 
financial condition is monitored on an ongoing basis by means of regular portfolio reviews and an 
annual independent actuarial valuation. The actual returns on the TMF Plan assets for the years 
ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, were $6.614,000 and $7.806,000. respectively. 

In developing the expected return on plan assets, the System evaluates the historical performance 
of total plan assets. the relative weighting of plan assets. interest rates, economic indicators, and 
industry fbrecasts. In line with the investment return objective and risk pararneters, the mix of 
assets includes a diversified portfolio of equity. fixed-income, and alternative investments. Equity 
investments include international stocks and a blend of domestic growth and value stocks of 
various sizes of capitalization. The aggregate asset allocation is rebalanced as needed, but not less 
than on an annual basis. 
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The asset allocations at June 30, by asset category, are detailed below (in thousands): 

 

Cash Balance Plan TNIF Plan 
2024 2023 2024 2023 

Cash and cash equivalents S 18,882 S 18,612 $ 5,319 $ 8,379 
Domestic equities 72,474 72,838 9,625 18,414 
International equities 4,397 3,243 

 

470 
Fixed-income securities 22,165 21,840 2,719 1 ,640 
Mutual funds and other similar 

investment funds. 

    

Domestic equity funds — 

 

92,219 86.182 
International equity hinds 41,411 38.028 

  

Fixed-income funds 71,392 68,618 17,756 17,305 
Risk parity. blended, and other 

funds 7 6 

  

Equity investments in managed 
funds: 

    

Fixed-income flinds 318,427 272,175 7,2(14 6,119 
Hedge funds 154,335 182,352 28,041 24,927 
Private equity, real estate. and 

other 164,358 169,735 — 

 

Other 359 516 52 95 
Total S 868,207 $ 847.963 $ 162,935 $ 164.531 
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The value of the plan assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis was determined using the 
valuation inputs described in Note 7 and categorized at June 30, as follows (in thousands)• 

Assets 
Investments. 

  

2024 

 

Level 1 

 

Level 2 

 

Level 3 Total 

     

Cash and cash equivalents $ 24,201 $ 

  

— $ 24.201 
Domestic equities 82,099 

   

— 82,099 
International equities 4,397 

   

— 4,397 
Fixed-income secunties — 

 

2,437 

 

— 2.437 
U.S. government securities — 

 

22,447 

 

— 22,447 
Mutual funds and other sinular 

investment funds. 

     

Domestic equity funds 92,219 

 

— 

 

— 92,219 
International equity funds 41,411 

   

— 41.411 
Fixed-income fimds 89,148 

 

— 

 

— 89,148 
Risk parity, blended, and other 

funds 7 

   

— 7 
Other 411 

 

— 

 

— 411 

 

s 333,893 s 24,884 S 358.777 
Investments measured at net asset 

value or equivalent. 

     

Fixed-income funds 

    

325.631 
Hedge fimds 

    

182,376 
Private equity, real estate, and other 

funds 

    

164.358 
Total assets at fair value 

    

S 1,031,142 
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Assets 
Investments. 

 

2023 

 

Level 1 Level 2 

 

Level 3 Total 

    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 26,991 

  

26.991 
Domestic equities 91.252 

  

91,252 
International equities 3,713 

  

3.713 
Fixed-income securities 

 

3.410 

 

3,410 
U.S. government securities 

 

21,070 

 

21,070 
Mutual ftinds and other similar 

investment funds. 

    

Domestic equity funds 86,181 

  

86.182 
International equity funds 38,028 

  

38.028 
Fixed-income ffinds 85.923 

  

85,923 
Risk parity. blended. and other 

funds 6 

  

6 
Other 6 1 1 

  

611 

 

332,706 $ 24,480 $ 357.186 

Investments measured at net asset 
value or equivalent. 

W11111111111111111111111 

   

Fixed-income Wilds 

   

278.294 
Hedge ftinds 

   

207,279 
Private equity. real estate, and other 

flan& 

   

169,735 
Total assets at fair value 

   

$ 1,012,494 

The Cash Balance Plan has $72,474.000 of funding commitments to purchase private equity. real 
estate, and other fimds as of June 30. 2024. The TMF Plan has no such funding commitments. 

Contributions 

In tiscal year 2024, CHRISTUS made no contributions to the Detined Benefit Plans. In tiscal year 
2025, CHRISTUS does not expect to make contributions to the Defined Benefit Plans based on 
asset values for the plan year beginning January 1. 2024. 
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Benefit Payments 

Benefit payments for the Cash Balance Plan for the years ended June 30. 2024 and 2023 were 
$54,228,000 and $48.962.000, respectively. Benefit payments for the TMF Plan fbr the Years 
ended June 30. 2024 and 2023 were $8,210.000 and $7.955.000, respectively. The ibllowing 
benefit payrnents, which reflect expected nature service and expected benefit payments for services 
previously rendered, are expected to be paid as fbllows (in thousands): 

 

Cash 
Balance Plan 

TMF 
Plan 

2025 $ 66,074 $ 9,141 
2026 65,610 9,396 
2027 64,929 9,604 
2028 63,937 9,806 
2029 62,453 9,976 
Years 2030-34 291,955 50.996 

Defined Contribution Plans 

The System has a defined contribution plan (the Matched Savings Plan) covering eligible 
CHRISTUS employees. Annual employee contributions are lirnited to 50% of cornpensation, up 
to Internal Revenue Service dollar limits. The System matches 67% of employee contributions, 
not to exceed 6% of annual compensation. Employer contributions vest to the employee after three 
years. For the fiscal years ended June 30. 2024 and 2023, expenses attributable to the Matched 
Savings Plan amounted to $61,245.000 and $54.494,000, respectively. 

Other Defined Benefit and Defined Contribution Plans 

In addition to the CHRISTI'S Cash Balance Plan and the TMF Plan, CHRISTUS also participates 
in various detined benefit plans for executives that have been frozen or curtailed. The net benefit 
credit and net benefit obligation under these plans was not material to the consolidated financial 
statements fbr the fiscal years ended June 30. 2024 or 2023. These plans are unfunded. In addition 
to the Matched Savings Plan, CHRISTUS also participates in other defined contribution plans that 
are not material to the consolidated financial staternents for the tiscal years ended June 30. 2024 
or 1023. 
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14. Self-Funded Liahilities 

The System self-funds and self-insures for primary professional and general liability. workers' 
compensation and Texas occupational injury, directors' and officers' liability, employment 
practices liability. property. and employee medical benefits. A wholly owned. captive insurance 
company, Emerald Assurance Cayman Ltd. (Emerald). is used to insure primary lines of 
professional and general liability, property, directors' and officers' liability. and employment 
practices liability. Policies written provide coverage for professional liability with primary limits 
of $10,000,000 per claim, for employment practices liahility limits of $3,000,000 per claim, hoth 
with no aggegate for the fiscal years 2024 and 2023. For general liability, policies written provide 
coverage with primary limits in the amount of $2,000.000 per claim for tiscal years 2024 and 2023. 
Additionally. the System intemally sets aside funds for workers' compensation. the Texas 
occupational injury program. and employee medical benefits based on actuarial analyses. 

The assets of the captive insurance company, internally designated funds. and the estimated 
liability for losses are reported On the consolidated halance sheets. Investment income from the 
assets and the provision for estimated self-funded losses and administrative costs are reported on 
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets. The estimated 
self-funded losses include expected claim payments, including settlement costs for reported claims 
and an actuarial determination of expected losses related to claims that have been incurred but not 
reported. 

Emerald was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on June 27. 2003, under the Companies Act of 
the Cayman Islands. Emerald was granted an Unrestricted Class "B" Insurer's license on June 30, 
2003 (reclassified to a Class B(i) license on September 21, 2(115). which it holds subject to the 
provisions of the Insurance Act of the Cayman Islands. As a Cayman Islands company. Emerald 
is exempt from local income, profits. and capital gains taxes until August 3, 2043. No such taxes 
are currently levied in the Cayman Islands. 

15.Commitments and Contingencies 

Capital Commitments 

In May 2016, related to the acquisition of Trinity Mother Frances Health System. the System 
committed to fund S700,000,000 in capital expenditures over a period of up to seven years from 
funds generated by the operations of Trinitv Mother Frances Health System and other resources. 
As of March 31, 2023. the System had met this commitment in full. 
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Other Contingencies 

From time to time. the System is subject to litigation in the ordinary course of operations. 
Management is not aware of any pending or threatened litigation that would have a material effect 
on the System's consolidated financial statements. 

Healthcare is a highly regulated industry. The System has a compliance program and various 
internal policies and procedures that are desiped to ensure compliance with applicable federal. 
state. and local laws and regulations and reduce potential exposure to fines, penalties, repayment 
obligations, and other sanctions fbr violations of such laws and regulations. As a result of the 
System's cornpliance, internal audit. and other operational activities, from time to time the System 
identifies instances in which it has a repayment or self-disclosure obligation. In addition, the 
System may incur repayment obligations or be subject to penalties as a result of audits and 
investieations by governmental aeencies and contractors or commercial payors. 

Because the governrnent's present regulatory and enforcement efforts are widespread across the 
healthcare industry and may vary from region to region, the impact of such activities on the System 
is difticult to predict with certainty. The dynamic regulatory environment, political climate, and 
effectiveness of the System's compliance efforts are all factors that may affect the resolution of 
regulatory. enforcement, and payor issues involving System entities. The System has implemented, 
and continually works to enhance. various policies and procedures to ensure cornpliance with 
applicable legal requirements. However, there can he no assurance that the System's compliance 
program or other measures will be able to reduce or eliminate all potential exposure for alleged or 
actual noncompliance with applicable laws and reeulations or commercial payor requirements. 
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16. Functional Expenses 

The System's primary activities involve providing general healthcare services to its patients. 
Expenses related to providing these services at June 30 are as follows (in thousands). 

Employee compensation and 

  

2024 

  

Healthcare 
Services 

Physician 
Services 

General and 
Administrative Total 

     

henefits $ 2,711,859 $ 610,775 $ 606,348 $ 3,928,982 
Services and other 1,998,797 100,753 

 

589,411 2,688,961 
Supplies 1,491,588 15,540 

 

16,306 1,523,434 
Depreciation and amortization 283,177 6,395 

 

45,839 335,411 
Interest 16,094 465 

 

89,325 105,884 
Total expenses $ 6,501,515 S 733,928 S 1,347,229 S 8,582,672 

Employee compensation and 

  

2023 

  

Healthcare 
Services 

Physician 
Services 

General and 
Administrative Total 

     

benefits $ 2,483,890 $ 556,274 $ 498,118 $ 3,538,282 
Services and other 1,781,024 82,561 

 

353,837 2,217,422 
Supplies 1,320,153 15,356 

 

13,518 1,349,027 
Depreciation and amortization 259,220 5,053 

 

48,985 313.258 
Interest 12,491 692 

 

58,540 71,723 
Total expenses $ 5.856.778 $ 659.936 $ 972.998 $ 7.489.711 

17. Liquidity 

     

Financial assets available for general expenditure within one year of the consolidated balance sheet 
date consist of the following as ofJune 30 (in thousands)• 

Cash and cash equivalents. net of cash used for 
2024 2023 

  

subsequent business combinations $ 1.044,665 $ 861,756 
Short-term investments and equity in manaeed funds 1,061,446 986,190 
Patient accounts receivable 883,351 776,110 
Notes and other receivables 243,140 128,305 
Total $ 3,232,602 $ 2.752,361 
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CHRISTUS has the ability to structure its financial assets to be available as its general expenditures 
and other obligations come due. Cash in excess of daily requirements is invested in short-term 
investments. CHRISM'S also maintains a $75.000,000 line of credit with Bank of America and a 
$75,000,000 line of credit with Roval Bank of Canada, as discussed in Note 11. As of June 30, 
2024, $0 was drawn against any line of credit. 

18.Significant Events 

Business Combinations 

Gerald Champion Regional Medical Center 

Effective July 1, 2023, CHRISTLIS closed on a transaction in which CHRISTUS paid 
$240.000,000. subject to working capital and other adjustments, to purchase GCRMC. GCRMC 
operates a 98-bed acute care hospital and a 36-bed inpatient psychiatric unit in Alamogordo. New 
Mexico. The transaction was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. 

In accordance with ASC 958-805, Not-Pr-Profit Entities — Business Combination.v, CHRISTUS 
recognized an inherent contribution reflected in other revenue on the consolidated statement of 
operations and chanees in net assets equal to the excess of the acquisition-date fair values of the 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the consideration transferred. The fair values assigned 
and consideration transferred are summarized as fbllows ( in thousands ): 

Consideration transferred $ 240,000 

Fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed: 

 

Cash, cash equivalents. and investments 121.948 
Other current assets 47,486 
Property and equipment. net 161,273 
Other noncurrent assets. includine tradename intaneible asset 16,824 
Current liahilities (63,716) 
Long-term liabilities (4,701) 
Noncontrolling interest (5,(135) 

Total fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed 274,079 

Inherent contribution 34,079 
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18. Significant Events (cuntinued) 

For the period of July 1. 2023 through June 30. 2024, total operating revenues and revenues in 
excess of expenses attributable to GCRMC were $284,129,000 and $26,880,000, respectively. 

CHRISTUS St. Vincent Regional Medical C enter 

Effective September 1, 2023, CHRISTLJS closed on a transaction to purchase the 50% 
noncontrolling interest in St. Vincent from Anchorum St. Vincent for approximately 
$427.000,000. subject to working capital and other adjusunents. CHRISTUS paid $50.000,000 at 
closing and the remainine consideration will he paid ratably over the next nine years. Subsequent 
to the transaction. CHRISTUS owns 100% of St. Vincent. 

19.Subsequent Events 

The System evaluated events and transactions occurring subsequent to June 30, 2024 through 
October 3, 2024. the date of issuance of the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
During this period, no events occurred that warranted disclosure. 
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Schedule of Compensation Information 

Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Chief Executive Officer: Ernie Sadau 

None of the Chief Execut ve Officer's compensation was paid from public fimds received by 
CHRISTUS Health. 
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Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Federal Grantor State Gnintor 
Pass-Tbrougb GrantorProgram Tide 

AssiSla Ore 
Listing 

Number 

Pass-Through 
Entity Identify mg 

Number-Stale 
C ontract Number 

Research and 
Development 

(luster 

Other 
Federal Slate 
Expenditures 

Total 
Fedei allitate 
Expenditures 

Amounts 
Provided to 

subrecipients Locanon 

Federal Anna 415 
U.S. Department of Agriculture 

Pass-nneugh ;ion' ine Tin.; s D•purnan•la .1.)ta,e Heahh ',truces 

       

WIC •spekial supplemental Nutrition Program foi Women Intant. and Children 10 557 HHS000,101600m1 S — S 1 554 66? S 1 55-1 6'43 5 '3!)59 HR1sTUS 'santa Health System 
Pirss-riar..ngh fiom zhe reas D.,parnurn: .1 &are Health Syssn's 

       

So ap Clitger 

       

State Adminiso:Mve Mati.liing Grains 14.1 the Supvleinental Nutnt ion 
Acsociance Propr.un 10 56I HHsnisnII0 I titOsill 

 

-1.12u 4 12u 

 

- l HRISTLIS Santa Ft..)&a Health system 
Total t Drpartmrnt al Agroculture 

   

1 566113 l.556 113 

 

7.3.05ct 

Department of Justice 

       

Pa•s-rh.ough from rh., AtAssio ernn.• Vrenms Reparanor room,. alon• 
Crune X team Assistance 16 5'4 2023-VA-266 

 

7 u15 u15 

 

- C RNA STUS 51. %%meat Retionalt‘ledicAlCentet 
t. rune X ictim A•SISIIIDCe 16 574 Zu24-VA-565 

 

0.566 6 566 

 

- C HR1STUS St. Vincent Rego:mai Medical (entre 
Pas$-thiongl, fion. the Tesar ()Av. rhc Gm, no, 

Crune X scam Assistance 16 5'4 ..7$504 

  

5? 7.:r; 

 

- HR1STUS Health Southeast Iexoa 
Crime V mum Assistance It. 4'5 376i AV 

 

AR.,6 se.,569 

 

- CHRISTI.K Health sloolheata Texas 
Crime Victim Assistaike lb 4-5 32R2Zoi 

 

14'.051 I 5.73.$1 

 

- CHRISTUS Rosa Health System 
Total Crone X let101 Aa5Isixece 

       

TOM l.s. Department of Justice 

l'.S. Department of Treasury 
thr TeA Offwe ot the G.a error 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards (continued) 

Pass-Through 
Assistance Enna" ldentif:iing Research and Other Total AMOUDIS 

Federal Grantor, State Gra it ot Listing Number Slate Development Federal Slate Fedei allilate Provided to 
Pass-Through Grantor Prom Ain Talc Number C Distract Number Cluster Expenditures Expenditures subrecipients LOC2IIIOD 

Federal Aunt ds (continued) 
U.S. Department of Health Mid Hainan Services 

Poss-tru,,rigkirom Texaa Depor men,  cy-Age frokure 
COVID-I9 Rota Health Research Center. 
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Small Rural Hospital Inapt's% erneht Grant Primal') 

smaLl RUM] HoSpalai Wynn etnent Gram Pray.ram 
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Poss-Ouvugh Fred Hureinnson C'an,ya Research tower. 

C mcer C arse and Pro elation Research 
Comer Cause and Pre, eau ion Pesearch 

Tot.il Cancer Cause arid Prevention Resta:eh 
Poss-tinough fi orn Oregon 1Poirh and Ac;rnie '.-saterun 

Caucer Treauneut Reslearch 
Conuressismal Du ec t i, es 
Fn. th,ongit fr•rin rho Culver • rn• orni.'higan 
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Total National Etioterronsul Hosµtlnl Preparedness Pr./cram 
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Corporation for National and Communitt strive 

AmenCorps State Alial nno5 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards (continued) 

Pass-Through 

Assistance [ant" Identd”ng Research and Other Total Amounts 

Federal Grantor, Stale Grantor Listing Number Slate Dertiopment Federal Slate Fedei allitate Provided to 
Pass-Through Grantor Progi am Title Number C Distract Number Cluster Expenditures Expenditures subrecipients Location 

Federal Anal ds (continued) 

Pas: -throngh orn Me New itfrareo Depal fawn,' of ifoawiand sem; in ond 
Emorgeno Manavmenr 
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Total Department of Homeland ',curl!, - 696.426 696 t2o 

Total Expenditures of Fedei al Asia t S .:;- S 211 - cu S i 1-.:  1 , 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards (continued) 

Pass-Through 
ASSISISOCt Entity Idenill) mg Research and (lther Tolal Amounts 

Federal Grantor State (Smntor Listing Number-Stale Development FederabStale Federal-State Provide;Ito 
Pass-Tbrougb Grantor,Program TIlle Number C ontract Number 4. luster Expenditures Expenditures Subreciments Locatioo 

State Au ards 
Graduate Medical Education Prop-mu 
Direct An ord. (Texas Highel Edo. anon c m.rdinaring Board): 

Fanuly Fiance Residency Po Tram. 
Family Practice Reiolency Program Opo to-ant 

F unilv Practice Residency 
Program - Prinriry Cale 

Family Practise Residency 
Ptomain Operato mai Grant 

Total Faintly Practise Resokocy Program 

Graduate Medical Education Expansion Pnrµr un 
Graduate Medical Education 

Expansion Program - Fundy Medicine 

Ura.luate Isledical Education 

Expansion Po Tram - Emergency Medicine 

Total Graduate Medical Expansion Edui.abon Program 
Total Cra.luate Medn al Education Program 
Direct An ard Mince of the Governor. Public safely office) 

Sexual Assault Forensic Exam (SAFEA-P.eady Facilities Program 
Sexual Assault Forensic Exam (SAFE i-Peady Fasahries Prograni 
sexual Assault Foiensie Lxam ISAFEl-Ready Facilitie. Prom am 
sexual AsAult Forensic Exana tSAPEi-Ready F ACIIIties Program 

Total sexual AsAult Forensic Exam tSAFEl-Ready F acilities Program 

Direct Ana. ti (Texas Department of Agriculture. Slate office of Rural Health) 
Rut al Healtb Facility Capital Iniptovement Program - 20.:2 

Rural Health Facility Capital Improvement Program - 2025 

Total Rural Health Facility Capital Improvement Pr..gratis 

Texas Demi. Intent of State Health Services 
Pass -thr..ugh .11 run Tesas 01 gam:anon of Ruin! and Common:1. Hospoeh (TORCH) 

Outreach aud Edusstpm Palm' 
Vaccine Ouireach mut Education Pruwaim 
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THECB 00114 325 16). 32! Iftt• CHRISTIS Spolui Health System 
r5S4r.I o 55rt 
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09.2tiA0 30,9-  i Fdaathei Fr.uicis Hospital 

y3elz 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards (continued) 

Pass-Through 
Assistance Entity Idea.if)eng Research and Other Total Amounts 

Federal Grantor S:tate (Srantor Listing Number,Stale Dertiopment Federalismle Federal,Stale Provide;lin 
Pass-Tbrougb Grantor,Program 11lk Number C ontract Number r. luster Expenditures Expenditures Sithremments Location 

State Awards (continued) 
Total acme Outreach and Education Program 
Cancer Fres Callon and Research Institute of Texas(t. FRITS 
Pass Arvrigh lion) Bo% los Ovilegr ofMrchrine • 

Tbe A.lolescem and Claldbor4 amer Eindenu..logy and Suseeindidny Sen ice 
Access], for Texas 

Total Expenchrures of State Awards 
P- ncynolarPvi S 46.15) i - S 46,9go i - CHRISTr's Santa Rosa Health system 

 ¶ 46.159 S l..816.4ss S t StSL4l 4 I. 9'.sifi      
Total Expenditures of Federal and Sole AI% Ards S 277 22 S 5.0!7 2n! S s.334 S 171 5114 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards 

June 30. 2024 

1.Basis of Presentation 

The accolnpanying schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards (the Schedule) includes 
the federal and state award activity of CHRISTUS Health under programs of the federal and state 
governments for the year ended June 30. 2024. The information in this Schedule is presented in 
accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code qf Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements. Cost Principles. und Audit Requirements Pr Federal Aivards 
(Uniform Guidance) and the Texas Grant Management Standaills (TxGMS). Because the 
Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of CHRISTUS Health. it is not intended 
to and does not present the financial position, results of operations. changes in net assets, or cash 
flows of CHRISTUS Health. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such 
expenditures are recognized following. as applicable. the cost principles contained in the Unitbrm 
Guidance, 45 CFR, PART 75 APPENDIX a, Principles for Determining Costs Applicable to 
Research and Development Under Grants and Contracts With Hospitals, and TxGMS. wherein 
certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Therefore, some 
amounts presented in the Schedule may differ from amounts presented in. or used in the 
preparation of, the consolidated financial statements. 

CHRISTUS Health has negotiated multiple indirect cost rates for consolidated entities that have 
been eligible to negotiate a federal indirect cost rate with the Department of Health and Human 
Services (DHHS). However, not all awards presented in the Schedule include indirect expenses. 
Allowable indirect costs for each award are determined by the related terms and conditions 
developed by the awarding agency for each program. CHRISTUS Health has not elected to use 
the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under Uniform Guidance. 

3. Nature of Activities 

CHRISTUS Health receives various grants to cover costs of specified programs. Final 
determination of eligibility of costs will be made by the grantors. Should any costs be found 
ineligible. CHRISTUS Health will be responsible for reimbursing the grantors for these amounts. 

Additionally, expenditures incurred for various programs may exceed the amounts awarded from 
the respective pass-through entity or agency. The amounts reported on the Schedule are limited to 
the award amounts. Atnounts in excess of this amount are paid out of non-federal and non-state 
sources. 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards (continued) 

4. Donated Personal Protective Equipment (unaudited) 

CHRISTUS Health did not receive any donated personal protective ecluipment from federal 
sources for the year ended June 30, 2024. 

5. Disaster Grants — Public Assistance (Presidentiall Declared Disasters) 

In accordance with guidance from the US. Department of Homeland Security, the atnount 
presented on the SEFA for Assistance Listing Number 97.036 - CC)VID-19 — Disaster Grants — 
Public Assistance (Presidentially Declared Disasters), represents expenditures that were incurred 
as of the end of the tiscal year, related to project worksheets approved by the Federal Emereency 
Management Agency (FEMA) during the tiscal year. CHRISTUS Health reported $696.426 in 
COVID-19 related funding from FEMA during the fiscal year ended June 30. 2024. Of this 
amount, $696.426 in expenditures were incurred prior to the beginning of the fiscal year. 
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Report of Independent Auditors on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and 
on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

The Board of Directors and 
Management of CHRISTUS Health 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government. Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government. Auditing 
Standards), the consolidated financial statements of CHRISTUS Health, which comprise the 
consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2024, and the related consolidated statements of 
operations and changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes 
(collectively referred to as the "financial statements"), and have issued our report thereon dated 
October 3, 2024. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered CHRISTUS 
Health's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on 
the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
CHRISTUS Health's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of CHRISTUS Health's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course ofperforming their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough 
to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether CHRISTUS Health's financial statements 
are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct 
and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with 
those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Governrnent Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

/1.).vat 14- o-t4/7-1.1.P 

October 3, 2024 
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Report of Independent Auditors on Compliance for Each Major Federal and State 
Program; and Report on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the 

Uniform Guidance and the Texas Grant Management Standards 

The Board of Directors and Management 
CHRISTUS Health 

Report of Independent Auditors on Compliance for Each Major Federal and State 
Program 

Opinion on Each Major Federal and State Program 

We have audited CHRISTUS Health's compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
identified as subject to audit in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Compliance 
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on CHRISTUS Health's major federal 
program and the types of compliance requirements described in the Texas Grant Management 
Standards (TxGMS) that could have a direct and material effect on CHRISTUS Health's major 
state program for the year ended June 30, 2024. CHRISTUS Health's major federal and state 
programs are identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule 
of findings and questioned costs. 

In our opinion, CHRISTUS Health complied, in all material respects, with the compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major 
federal and state programs for the year ended June 30, 2024. 

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal and State Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States 
(Government Auditing Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost. Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and TxGMS. Our responsibilities under 
those standards, the Uniform Guidance and TxGMS are further described in the Auditor's 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 
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We are required to be independent of CHRISTUS Health and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion on compliance for each major federal and state program. Our audit does not 
provide a legal determination of CHRISTUS Health's compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements 
applicable to CHRISTUS Health's federal and state programs. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on CHRISTUS Health's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, the Uniform Guidance and 
TxGMS will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting 
material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered 
material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence 
the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about CHRISTUS Health's 
compliance with the requirements of each major federal and state program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, the Uniform 
Guidance and TxGMS, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding CHRISTUS Health's compliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. 
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• Obtain an understanding of CHRISTUS Health's internal control over compliance relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances 
and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform 
Guidance and TxGMS, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of CHRISTUS Health's internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no 
such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material 
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control 
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal or state program on a timely basis. A material weakness in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance 
with a type of compliance requirement of a federal or state program will not be prevented, or 
detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance 
with a type of compliance requirement of a federal or state program that is less severe than a 
material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by 
those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to 
identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations during our 
audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to 
be material weakness, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
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The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the 
requirements of the Uniform Guidance and TxGMS. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for 
any other purpose. 

4.)44t -i- yo.uILLP 

February 12, 2025 

2409-15558-CS 72 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 



CHRISTUS Health 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Section I — Summary of Auditor's Results 

Financial Statements 

Type of auditor's report issued on whether the 
financial statements audited were prepared ill 
accordance with GAAP• 1 Inmodified   

Internal control over financial reporting: 
Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No 
Signiticant deficiency(ies) identified? Yes X None reported 
Noncompliance material to financial statements 

noted? Yes X No 

Federal Awards 
Internal control over major federal program: 

Material weaknesmes) identified? Yes 
Significant deficiency(ies) identified? Yes 

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for 
major federal program: 

X No 
X None reported 

Unmodified 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be 
reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516( a)? Yes X No 

State Awards 
Internal control over major state program: 

Material weakness( es) identified? 
Significant deficiency(ies) identified? 

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for 
major state program• 

No 

X None reported 

nmodi lied 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be 
reported in accordance with the Texas Grant 
Management Standards? Yes X No 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (continued) 

Section. I — Summary of Auditor's Results (continued) 

Identification of major federal prouram: 

Assistance Listing Number Name of Federal Program or C:luster 

10.557 WIC Special Supplemental Nutrition 
Program for Women. Infants. and 
Children 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
Type A and Type B federal programs: S750,000 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?   Yes X No 

Identification of major state program: 

Assistance Listing Number Name of State Program  

N:,\ Graduate Medical Education Progam 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
Type A and Type B state programs: S750.000  

Auditee qualitied as low-risk auditee? 

Section II — Financial Statement Findings 

findines were noted. 

X No 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Schedule of Ftndings and Questio ed Costs (con ued) 

Section III — Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

No find.  gs were noted. 

Section IV — State Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

No findings were noted. 
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CHRISTUS Health 

Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 

FindinE 2021-001— Internal Control Deficiency Over Activities Allowed or Unallowed 

Assistance Listing No.: 93.498 COVID-19 Provider Relief Funds and American Rescue Plan (ARP) 
Rural Distribution 

Summary Finding: The terms and conditions of the award states the recipient certifies that the 
payment will only be used to prevent, prepare for, and respond to coronavirus, and that the payment 
shall reimburse the recipient only for health care related expenses and lost revenues that are 
attributable to coronavirus. CHRISTUS Health (CHRISTUS) did not consistently retain 
documentation to evidence approval of certain expenses incurred related to COVID-19. Also, certain 
payroll expenses related to COVID-19 were calculated using current pay rates as opposed to pay rates 
in effect at the time the payroll expenses were incurred. 

Questioned Costs: $1,148 

Auditee Status Update: Some payroll charges included in our Health and Human Services (HHS) 
portal submission were based on actual hours and current pay rates rather than the pay rates in effect 
at the time the hours were incurred. We accumulated detailed information of all submitted charges 
using the incorrect rate in our Period 1 report. We have completed a similar review of payroll 
charges using the incorrect rate submitted in our Period 2 report, as that was submitted prior to the 
identification of this error. We did not receive any Period 3 funding. We have submitted our Period 
4 report and have deducted an over-charge of approximately $5,000 related to Period 2. Our analysis 
of Period 1 determined that although the audited sample suggested that utilizing current pay rates 
would translate into an over-statement of cost — in fact, the opposite was found to be true. During 
the height of the pandemic, many associates received temporary pay rate premiums that resulted in 
additional payroll costs being eligible COVID-related expenses. Although we determined that 
additional expense could have been charged in Period 1, we have not adjusted Period 4 or Period 5 
for those expenses. 

Auditee Status Update: HRSA issued a management decision stating that the recommendation has 
been satisfactorily resolved for this finding in FY 2022 and FY 2023 thus this finding is considered 
resolved. 
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Findina 2022-001- Internal Control Deficiency Over Activities Allowed or Unallowed 

Assistance Listing No.: 93.498 COVID-19 Provider Relief Funds and American Rescue Plan (ARP) 
Rural Distribution 

Summary Finding: CHRISTUS Health did not consistently retain documentation to evidence 
approval of certain expenses incurred related to COVID-19. CHRISTUS did not have controls in place 
to ensure amounts recorded as COVID-19 related expenses were reviewed and approved. This is a 
repeat finding of 2021-001. 

Questioned Costs: None 

Auditee Status Update: HRSA issued a management decision stating that the recommendation has 
been satisfactorily resolved. 

Finding 2022-003 -  Internal Control Deficiency and Noncompliance over Activities Allowed or 
Unallowed and Period of Performance 

Assistance Listing No.: 21.027, Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 

Pass-Through Award Numbers: 
Good Shepherd, pass-through Gregg County: SKM_C55822012711390 
Trinity Mother Frances, Pass-through Smith County: Not available 
Santa Rosa, Pass-through the City of San Marcos: Not available 

Summary Finding: 
CHRISTUS did not have controls in place that operated effectively to ensure that employees 
receiving retention bonuses were eligible under the requirements of the agreements for Good 
Shepherd and Trinity Mother Frances, resulting in ineligible employees being charged to the grant. 
Controls were not in place to ensure the expenditures reported by Santa Rosa were eligible under the 
agreement. Certain types of expenditures used in the calculation to support the award were not 
allowed under the agreement. 

Questioned Costs: Good Shepherd: $1,000,000, Trinity Mother Frances: $21,480, San Marcos: 
$139,759 
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Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Auditee Status Update: CHRISTUS performed an audit of all expenditures reported to each 
respective pass-through agency. Upon completion of that review, we sought guidance from the 
respective pass-through agency as to the appropriate corrective action. Based on communication and 
support provided to Smith County, TX. , no refund of awarded amounts are required. 

Discussion of support is underway with Gregg County, TX. Ultimate resolution is still dependent on 
timing and results of meetings conducted with the relevant county officials; we anticipate a similar 
result with Gregg County representatives based on the results of our review. 

The City of San Marcos has engaged a third-party firm to audit our award. The audit is still in 
process. 

Finding 2023-001 - Internal Control Deficiency and Noncompliance over Activities Allowed or 
Unallowed 

Assistance Listing No.: 93.498 COVID-19 Provider Relief Fund and American Rescue Plan (ARP) 
Rural Distribution 

Summary Finding: 
CHRISTUS Health did not have controls in place to ensure amounts recorded as COVID-19 
related expenses were reviewed and approved. CHRISTUS Health did not use appropriate pay 
rates when calculating labor costs to treat COVID-19 patients in the provider relief fund report 
(the Portal Submission) submitted to Health Resource Services Administration (HRSA). 

Questioned Costs: $237 

Auditee Status Update: HRSA issued a management decision stating that the recommendation has 
been satisfactorily resolved. 
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